

Study/Resource Guide for Students and Parents English Language Arts Grade 6



The Study/Resource Guides are intended to serve as a resource for parents and students. They contain practice questions for English Language Arts. The standards identified in the Study/Resource Guides address a sampling of the state-mandated content standards.

For the purposes of day-to-day classroom instruction, teachers should consult the wide array of resources that can be found at www.georgiastandards.org.

Copyright © 2023 by Georgia Department of Education. All rights reserved.

Table of Contents

	.3
DEPTH OF KNOWLEDGE (DOK) EXAMPLE ITEMS	.4
CONTENT DESCRIPTION AND ADDITIONAL SAMPLE ITEMS	L7
UNIT 1: READING LITERARY TEXT	L7
READING PASSAGES: LITERARY TEXT 1	L7
KEY TERMS 1	18
SAMPLE ITEMS	20
SAMPLE ITEM KEYS 2	26
EXAMPLE SCORING RUBRIC AND EXEMPLAR RESPONSES	27
ACTIVITY	28
UNIT 2: READING INFORMATIONAL TEXT	29
READING PASSAGES: INFORMATIONAL TEXT	29
KEY TERMS 3	30
SAMPLE ITEMS	32
SAMPLE ITEM KEYS 3	36
EXAMPLE SCORING RUBRIC AND EXEMPLAR RESPONSE	37
UNIT 3: WRITING	38
CONTENT DESCRIPTION 3	38
KEY TERMS 4	10
SAMPLE ITEMS	15
SAMPLE ITEM KEYS6	36
EXAMPLE SCORING RUBRICS AND EXEMPLAR RESPONSES 6	39
UNIT 4: LANGUAGE	74
CONTENT DESCRIPTION 7	74
KEY TERMS	75
SAMPLE ITEMS	78
SAMPLE ITEM KEYS 8	33
EXAMPLE SCORING RUBRICS AND EXEMPLAR RESPONSES	35
ACTIVITY	37
WRITING RUBRICS	
APPENDIX: LANGUAGE PROGRESSIVE SKILLS, BY GRADE	3 5

INTRODUCTION

Please see the *Study/Resource Guide for Students and Parents: Introduction and Overview* document for valuable information about how to use this guide.

DEPTH OF KNOWLEDGE (DOK) EXAMPLE ITEMS

Example items that represent applicable DOK levels are provided for you on the following pages. The items and explanations of what is expected of you to answer them will help you prepare for the test.

All example and sample items contained in this guide are the property of the Georgia Department of Education.

Example Item 1

Selected-Response

DOK Level 1: This is a DOK level 1 item because it requires students to recognize the correct spelling of grade-level words.

English Language Arts (ELA) Grade 6 Content Domain II: Writing and Language

Standard: ELAGSE6L2b. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when writing.

b. Spell correctly.

The sentence below contains a spelling error.

I did not mock the candidate's reason for his absense because he seemed so honorable.

Which underlined word is NOT spelled correctly?

- A. mock
- B. candidate's
- C. absense
- D. honorable

Correct Answer: C

Explanation of Correct Answer: The correct answer is choice (C) absense. The correct spelling is "absence." Choices (A), (B), and (D) are all spelled correctly.

Example Items 2 and 3

Read the poem and answer example items 2 and 3.

The Moon by Emily Dickinson
The moon was but a chin of gold A night or two ago, And now she turns her perfect face Upon the world below.
Her forehead is of amplest blond; Her cheek like beryl stone; Her eye unto the summer dew The likest I have known.
Her lips of amber never part; But what must be the smile Upon her friend she could bestow Were such her silver will!
And what a privilege to be But the remotest star! For certainly her way might pass Beside your twinkling door.
Her bonnet is the firmament, The universe her shoe, The stars the trinkets at her belt, Her dimities of blue.

Example Item 2

Selected-Response

DOK Level 2: This is a DOK level 2 item because the student is asked to apply knowledge of the text in order to answer the question. The student must interpret ideas as presented in the text.

English Language Arts (ELA) Grade 6 Content Domain I: Reading and Vocabulary

Genre: Literary

Standard: ELAGSE6RL1. Cite textual evidence to support analysis of what the text says explicitly as well as inferences drawn from the text.

Which line from the poem BEST expresses the poet's opinion of the moon?

- A. Upon the world below.
- B. Her lips of amber never part;
- **C.** And what a privilege to be
- D. Her dimities of blue.

Correct Answer: C

Explanation of Correct Answer: The correct answer is choice (C) And what a privilege to be. The word *privilege* demonstrates that the poet is appreciative of her location and would be even if she were the remotest star hoping to see the moon. Choice (A) is incorrect. The line expresses that the moon is above the poet but that does not help to express the poet's opinion of the moon. Choice (B) is incorrect. The line expresses a description of the moon, but that description does not provide the best evidence of the poet's opinion of the moon. Choice (D) is incorrect. The line expresses a concluding thought about the poet's visual comparison of the moon but does not support the poet's opinion of the moon.

Example Item 3

Drag-and-Drop Technology-Enhanced

DOK Level 3: This is a DOK level 3 item because it requires the students to think about what they read and to form a response that is supported with evidence from the text.

English Language Arts (ELA) Grade 6 Content Domain I: Reading and Vocabulary

Genre: Literary

Standard: ELAGSE6RL4. Determine the meaning of words and phrases as they are used in a text, including figurative and connotative meanings; analyze the impact of a specific word choice on meaning and tone.

empty bo	x in the chart to show	g ONE statement to EA w how the poet's specif of those lines in the poe	fic word
	0	0	
	Lines from the Poem	Impact of the Lines on Meaning in the Poem	
	The moon was but a chin of gold A night or two ago, And now she turns her perfect face Upon the world below.		
	And what a privilege to be But the remotest star! For certainly her way might pass Beside your twinkling door.		
	Her bonnet is the firmament, The universe her shoe, The stars the trinkets at her belt, Her dimities of blue.		
	The moon h from cresce		
		ooks different on the season.	
	Items in the that the mod	sky are like clothes on puts on.	
		noon appears at y seems empty.	
		he sky should feel be near the moon.	
	Select to	o Respond	

Due to the size of the response area, this item has a "Select to Respond" button on the screen. Clicking this button will bring up the response area at full size.

Go on to the next page to finish example item 3.

Example Item 3. Continued.

<u>C</u>			
Lines from the Poem	Impact of the Lines on Meaning in the Poem		
The moon was but a chin of gold A night or two ago, And now she turns her perfect face Upon the world below.			
And what a privilege to be But the remotest star! For certainly her way might pass Beside your twinkling door.			
Her bonnet is the firmament, The universe her shoe, The stars the trinkets at her belt, Her dimities of blue.			
The moon has changed from crescent to full.			
The moon looks different depending on the season.			
Items in the sky are like clothes that the moon puts on.			
	moon appears at ky seems empty.		
	he sky should feel be near the moon.		

Use a mouse, touchpad, or touchscreen to move the sentences below the chart into the boxes in the chart.

Example Item 3. *Continued*.

Points	Description
2	The student correctly fills in all three rows.
1	The student correctly fills in two rows.
0	The student does not correctly fill in at least two rows.

Scoring Rubric

Exemplar Response

The correct response is shown below.

G	•		
Lines from the Poem	Impact of the Lines on Meaning in the Poem		
The moon was but a chin of gold A night or two ago, And now she turns her perfect face Upon the world below.	The moon has changed from crescent to full.		
And what a privilege to be But the remotest star! For certainly her way might pass Beside your twinkling door.	Objects in the sky should feel honored to be near the moon.		
Her bonnet is the firmament, The universe her shoe, The stars the trinkets at her belt, Her dimities of blue.	Items in the sky are like clothes that the moon puts on.		
The moon looks different depending on the season.			
Before the moon appears at night the sky seems empty.			

Copyright © 2023 by Georgia Department of Education. All rights reserved.

Example Item 3. *Continued*.

The correct response in the first row is "The moon has changed from crescent to full." This response is correct because the lines reference a "chin of gold" (crescent moon) transforming into "her perfect face" (full moon), symbolizing the phases of the moon. The correct response in the second row is "Objects in the sky should feel honored to be near the moon." The use of "privilege" implies the honor of coming close to the moon and "pass / Beside your twinkling door" personifies the movement of objects in the sky. The correct response in the third row is "Items in the sky are like clothes that the moon puts on." This response is correct because it describes the extended metaphor of "she" (the moon) in relationship to other objects in the sky, which are part of "her" wardrobe. NOTE: Response order does affect scoring.

Example Item 4

Extended Writing-Response

DOK Level 4: This is a DOK level 4 item because it goes beyond explaining to analyzing and synthesizing information from different sources. The student must combine ideas from the two passages and write an essay in response to an extended writing prompt.

English Language Arts (ELA) Grade 6 Content Domain II: Writing and Language

Genre: Informational/Explanatory

Standards:

ELAGSE6W2. Write informative/explanatory texts to examine a topic and convey ideas, concepts, and information through the selection, organization, and analysis of relevant content.

ELAGSE6L1. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English grammar and usage when writing or speaking.

ELAGSE6L2. Demonstrate command of the conventions of standard English capitalization, punctuation, and spelling when writing.

This section of the test assesses your skill to comprehend reading passages and use information from the passages to write an explanatory essay.

Before you begin writing your essay, you will read two passages.

As you read the passages, think about details you may use in an explanatory essay about the use of pesticides.

These are the titles of the passages you will read:

- 1. The World Needs Honeybees
- 2. A Farmer's Letter to the Editor

The World Needs Honeybees

Governments should make strict rules about the use of harmful chemicals, or pesticides, on commercial crops. Farmers should volunteer to cut their use of pesticides and make safer choices, but governments should also step in if needed. These harmful chemicals may kill weeds and unwanted insects, but they also kill honeybees. We need honeybees to grow crops in the first place.

What is the purpose of honeybees?

For years, honeybees have been disappearing. Many people think the only purpose for bees is to make honey. However, bees do so much more. The scent of pollen draws them to plants and flowers. Bees then pollinate those crops. Without bees, the world's entire food supply would be in danger.

What is threatening honeybees?

Bees have many enemies. Some, like diseases, are found in nature. Others, such as pesticides, are made by people. When farmers spray their crops with chemicals, bees eat the chemicals during pollination. The chemicals can injure or even kill the bees. Without bees, there is nothing to pollinate the crops. This leaves farmers with fewer crops to sell.

Different pesticides affect bees in different ways. Some kill bees instantly. Others cause bees to die after they deposit the chemicals in their hives. Still other pesticides kill only young bees. Some pesticides, called neonicotinoids, are especially harmful. These chemicals confuse bees so that they forget what they are supposed to do. They are no longer drawn to the scent of pollen, so they can't pollinate plants. Studies show that bees affected by neonicotinoids also have fewer offspring. As it turns out, neonicotinoids are the most popular pesticides in the United States.

How can the world save its honeybees?

Farmers can help honeybees survive by changing their farming habits. Bees prefer to work during the day, so limiting the use of pesticides to evenings will help. Also, farmers can use liquid pesticides, which are less toxic than other forms. Farmers should use chemicals only when absolutely necessary and never while crops are blooming.

Other citizens can help too. They can encourage farmers to limit their chemical use. They can share their thoughts about pesticides with their government representatives. If everyone works together, we can save honeybees—and our food supply.

A Farmer's Letter to the Editor

To Whom It May Concern:

Lately, I've been hearing about a drop in the world's bee population and how farmers are likely to blame. After all, we use chemicals to protect our crops from disease and destruction.

It might surprise you to know that nobody is more committed to saving bees than farmers. But there is no guarantee that eliminating pesticides will save the bees. If farmers do stop using certain chemicals, their crops could be destroyed by insects and disease, and then it won't matter if there are bees or not. No one will have a food supply.

Furthermore, it is unfair to force farmers to make decisions that would hurt their businesses. Farmers should enjoy the freedom to choose how they grow their own crops, just like individuals enjoy the freedom to purchase their own food. If the government is allowed to tell us which chemicals we can use, what's next? Will they start forcing us to grow certain crops? I don't want to find out.

Sincerely, Edward Malloy

WRITING TASK

There is much discussion about the use of pesticides and their impact on the bee population.

Think about the ideas in BOTH passages. Then write an **explanatory essay** in your own words explaining why people have conflicting opinions about the use of pesticides.

Be sure to use information from BOTH passages in your explanatory essay.

Writer's Checklist

Be sure to:

- Introduce the topic clearly, provide a focus, and organize information in a way that makes sense.
- Use information from the two passages so that your essay includes important details.
- Develop the topic with facts, definitions, details, quotations, or other information and examples related to the topic.
- Identify the passages by title or number when using details or facts directly from the passages.
- Develop your ideas clearly and use your own words, except when quoting directly from the passages.
- Use appropriate and varied transitions to connect ideas and to clarify the relationships among ideas and concepts.
- Use clear language and vocabulary.
- Establish and maintain a formal style.
- Provide a conclusion that supports the information presented.
- Check your work for correct usage, grammar, spelling, capitalization, and punctuation.

Now write your explanatory essay on your answer document. Refer to the Writer's Checklist as you write and proofread your essay.

The following is an example of a seven-point response. See the seven-point, two-trait rubric for a text-based informational/explanatory response on pages 91 and 92 to see why this example would earn the maximum number of points.

It seems like people disagree about pesticides based on whether they are more concerned with honeybees or crops. The author of "The World Needs Honeybees" is more concerned with the bees. The author of "A Farmer's Letter to the Editor" is more concerned with farming with pesticides and less concerned with honeybees. The differing opinions are the result of different viewpoints. One author is a farmer, and the other seems to be a concerned citizen.

The author of "The World Needs Honeybees" claims that bees do such important work that it is wrong to place them in danger. Pesticides can harm honeybees. Pesticides can kill them immediately or make it tough for them to do their job, which is to pollinate crops. The author suggests that pesticide use be changed to keep honeybees healthy. The author suggests pesticides be used more carefully, like in liquid form or put on crops in evenings when bees aren't so active.

On the other hand, Edward Malloy claims that farmers need these chemicals to "protect our crops from disease and destruction." He says farmers shouldn't be asked to do things that interfere with them making a living. If pesticides are limited, he thinks crops will be threatened and then the honeybee issue won't matter anyway because "no one will have a food supply."

To summarize, the authors of the passages have conflicting opinions about the use of pesticides because they have different viewpoints. Maybe if we look at the use of pesticides from different viewpoints, we can find a solution that will still save the honeybees that are so important to the earth.

CONTENT DESCRIPTION AND ADDITIONAL SAMPLE ITEMS

In this section, you will find information about what to study in order to prepare for the Grade 6 English Language Arts EOG assessment. This includes main ideas and important vocabulary words. This section also contains practice questions, with explanations of the correct answers, and activities that you can do on your own or with your classmates or family to prepare for the test.

All example and sample items contained in this guide are the property of the Georgia Department of Education.

Unit 1: Reading Literary Text

READING PASSAGES: LITERARY TEXT

Content Description

The literary passages in the English Language Arts (ELA) test are used to identify main ideas and details, cite evidence, make inferences, determine themes, and understand vocabulary. You may be asked to write a narrative in response to a prompt based on a literary passage. For more information about narrative writing, please refer to Unit 3.

Key Ideas and Details

- Think about the passage and visualize, or make a mental picture, as you read.
- Look for key ideas and details that tell you what the passage is about.
- Use these ideas and details when writing or speaking about the passage.
- Look for a theme and/or central idea as you read. Think about how the author conveys this theme or central idea with particular details.
- Think about the way in which the author develops elements of plot and characterization.
- Summarize the important ideas and details from the passage without including your own opinion.

Craft and Structure

- Make sure you understand the words and phrases as you read, including figurative language (e.g., simile, metaphor, hyperbole, personification).
- Think about how specific word choice impacts the meaning and tone.
- Look at the structure of the passage. Think about how a particular sentence, chapter, scene, or stanza fits into the overall structure of a text and contributes to the development of the theme, setting, or plot.
- Think about how the author develops the point of view of the narrator or speaker in the passage.

Integration of Knowledge and Ideas

• Compare and contrast passages in different forms or genres (e.g., stories and poems, historical novels and fantasy stories) in how they approach similar themes and topics.

KEY TERMS

Literary texts: Literary texts are passages that are stories, dramas, or poems. (RL)

Inference: To infer means to come to a reasonable conclusion based on evidence found in the text. By contrast, an **explicit** idea or message is fully stated or revealed by the author. The author tells the reader exactly what he or she needs to know. (RL1)

Theme: The theme of a literary text is its lesson or message. For example, a story could be about two friends who like to do things together, and the theme might be the importance of friendship. (RL2)

Central idea: The central idea is the most important point or idea that the author is making in a text. The central idea is also known as the main idea. (RL2)

Objective summary: An objective summary is an overview of a text. It captures the main points but does not give every detail and does not include opinions. (RL2)

Plot: The specific order of a series of events that form a story is known as the plot. (RL3)

Resolution: In most stories, there is a **conflict** or problem. The resolution is the solution to the problem or the end of the main dramatic conflict. (RL3)

Characterization: Characterization refers to the way an author develops a character over the course of a text. (RL3)

Figurative language: To understand figurative language, you need to distinguish between literal and figurative meanings of words and phrases. **Literal** refers to the actual meaning of a word or phrase. For example, if someone tells you to *open the door*, you can open a physical door. If someone tells you to *open the door*, you can open a physical door. If someone tells you to *open the door to your heart*, you are not expected to find a door in your chest. Instead, you open up your feelings and emotions. (RL4, L5)

The following are examples of figurative language:

- **Personification:** When an author describes an object as if it were a person, he or she is using personification; for example, *The trees sighed in the afternoon breeze*. The trees cannot really sigh but seemed to as they moved gently in the breeze. (RL4, L5)
- **Simile:** A simile is a comparison using *like* or *as;* for example, *She is as pretty as a picture*. (RL4, L5)
- **Metaphor:** A metaphor is a direct comparison that states one thing is another. It isn't meant to be literal, but descriptive. For example, if someone describes recess by saying that *it was a zoo*, he or she is using a metaphor. Recess was chaotic, with lots of different people running around; it was not literally a zoo. (RL4, L5)
- **Hyperbole:** Hyperbole is exaggeration beyond belief. *My father can lift two tons* is an example of hyperbole. (RL4, L5)

Connotative meaning: A meaning beyond the explicit meaning of a word is known as a connotative meaning. For example, the word *childlike* connotes innocence. Connotations are meanings inferred from certain words. (RL4)

Tone: Tone is the attitude of an author about a subject or an audience. The author chooses words and language to create a tone and express a viewpoint in a text. (RL4)

Structure: In literary writing, writers use structure to convey meaning. This structure helps break longer pieces of writing into smaller portions that are grouped together because they happened around the same time or because they share a similar meaning. (RL5)

- **Chapter:** A chapter is a section of a book. Books are often divided into chapters. (RL5)
- Scene: A scene is a section of a drama or play. Plays are often divided into scenes. (RL5)
- Stanza: A stanza is a section of a poem. Poems are often divided into stanzas. (RL5)

Setting: Setting refers to where and when a story takes place, including the time of day, the season, or the location. (RL5)

Point of view: The perspective from which a story is told is called the point of view. The point of view depends on who the narrator or speaker is and how much he or she knows. The point of view could be first person (*I* went to the store), second person (*You* went to the store), or third person (*He* went to the store). (RL6)

Narrator: The character who tells the story in a literary text from his or her point of view is called the narrator of the story. (RL6)

Speaker: The speaker is the voice of a literary text that speaks about the writer's feelings or situation. The speaker is not always the author because the author may be writing the text from a different perspective. In poems and stories, the speaker may not be an actual person but an imagined one. In poems, the speaker is often not named or identified by gender or any other characteristics. (RL6)

Compare and contrast: Though similar, comparing is analyzing two things, such as characters or stories, in relation to each other, while contrasting is specifically analyzing the *differences* between two things, such as two different characters or stories. (RL9)

Genre: A genre is the category of a text, such as fiction or nonfiction. Each genre has a particular style, form, and content. (RL9)

Important Tips

- Solution Support ideas and to answer what you know and how you know it.
- When responding to an item, try to answer the question being asked before you read the answer choices.
- \swarrow Try to read the questions about a literary text before you read the entire text.
- \measuredangle Reread a literary text as you answer the questions to gain a better understanding.

SAMPLE ITEMS

Read the story and answer questions 1 through 4.

The Finish Line

Mother came into my bedroom. With her hands on her hips, she studied the cluttered floor and a wall of built-in bookshelves littered with art projects at every stage except *finished*. "What a mess," she said. "You have projects here that you started in first grade, Maura. Maybe it's time you finished them."

She sat on the bed across from me and said, "Your baseball coach called. I know that you quit the team, but what I don't get is why you didn't come to your dad and me. We're not the enemy, Maura, but we can't help you unless you talk to us."

I nodded and said, "I know."

"All right, I better get you to your grandparents or I'm going to be late for my meeting. Downstairs in two, okay?"

I grabbed my sketchbook and headed downstairs, where I discovered that Mother was already outside. After I got in the car, minutes of awkward silence crawled. I wanted to explain why I'd quit the team without telling her, and I wanted her to know what it felt like to ride the bench because you weren't as good as your teammates. But Mother didn't understand this, because she had been born good at everything and didn't realize that most people just weren't like that. Some people were only talented at drawing.

When I arrived at my grandparents' farm, Grandpa met me on the porch and said, "How would you like to go on a treasure hunt?"

I was excited for a moment but quickly realized that it was a trick. "You're not *still* looking for Grandma's ring, are you?" I asked suspiciously.

"Just until I find it," he said, "and you're part of my search team."

Suddenly, my summer was not looking so good. I had heard the story a million times: when Grandma was young, her brothers had taken her ring and buried it somewhere on the property. To complicate matters, her parents and grandparents had frequently buried things they wanted to dig up later in fun family treasure hunts—old kitchen items, bottles, and anything else that might be fun to "discover" again—and Grandma's brothers had followed their example. How were we going to find one ring in all those acres?

I followed Grandpa into the double garage that was his workshop. Tidy shelving, cupboards, and tool benches lined the perimeter. It did not resemble our garage, which was like a huge junk drawer with just enough space carved out for one car.

As I admired Grandpa's organization, he retrieved his new metal detector, which looked like a cross between a vacuum cleaner and a weed trimmer. "You finally bought one!" I said.

"We have work to do," he said, nodding.

We took the metal detector to the edge of the pasture, and Grandpa held the contraption out in front of him. Soon it began to hum and shake, indicating that it had found something.

I took the shovel and dug while Grandpa searched the upturned soil and fished out a penny. Not quite the payout we were looking for, but it was only our first attempt.

In the first few hours, we only managed to find coins, rusty nails, and an old fork. When I was about to give up, the machine jumped and rattled. "Maura, get the shovel!" Grandpa commanded.

I dug where he indicated, and my shovel immediately hit something—something a lot bigger than a ring. Grandpa reached into the dirt and retrieved a tin box. Some dirt had gotten through a crack in the lid, but the contents—a handful of tiny metal cars and toy soldiers, a few marbles, and a tarnished hair clip—appeared intact. There was no ring. "Failed again," I said.

"What a beautiful clip for Grandma's hair," Grandpa marveled.

"Beautiful?!" I exclaimed. "Grandpa, it's disastrously tarnished—it's not even supposed to be that color!"

"A little elbow grease will fix that," he retorted.

We headed back to Grandpa's workshop, where he produced a soft rag and told me to buff the clip back to its original shine.

I didn't have much hope until a cluster of tiny crystals emerged. Then we applied some silver polish and buffed it again. When I pulled the cloth away, the clip shone like a new mirror. Grandpa admired it and said, "Let's show your grandma."

We went inside, where we found Grandma reading, and Grandpa slid the hair clip onto a page of her book.

"Goodness!" she said. "Did you find this with that absurd metal detector?"

"Courtesy of your backyard," I confirmed.

As we admired Grandma's new accessory, someone knocked at the door. I knew it would be my mother. As I headed for the door, I considered the bevy of art projects covering my shelves. They all looked better than that hair clip had, so maybe there was potential for them after all. When we got home, I opened the door to my room. I knew which piece I would work on first.

Selected-Response

Based on this sentence from the story, what can the reader conclude about Grandpa?

"Just until I find it," he said, "and you're part of my search team."

- A. He is strict.
- B. He is sensitive.
- C. He is organized.
- D. He is determined.

Item 2

Selected-Response

What is the MAIN purpose of this paragraph from the story?

I followed Grandpa into the double garage that was his workshop. Tidy shelving, cupboards, and tool benches lined the perimeter. It did not resemble our garage, which was like a huge junk drawer with just enough space carved out for one car.

- A. It teaches Maura the importance of being orderly.
- **B.** It identifies Grandpa's workshop as the main setting of the story.
- **C.** It contrasts the organizational styles of Grandpa and Maura's parents.
- D. It suggests that Maura's mother inherited her habits from her father.

Evidence-Based Selected-Response Technology-Enhanced

This question has two parts. Answer Part A, and then answer Part B.

Part A

Which statement BEST expresses a theme of the story?

- A. Being kind to others is its own reward.
- **B.** Growing up is a challenge for everyone.
- **C.** Spending time with others can ease feelings of loneliness.
- **D.** Working hard when faced with difficulties can lead to success.

Part B

Which sentence from the story BEST supports the answer in Part A?

- **A.** We took the metal detector to the edge of the pasture, and Grandpa held the contraption out in front of him.
- **B.** I took the shovel and dug while Grandpa searched the upturned soil and fished out a penny.
- C. In the first few hours, we only managed to find coins, rusty nails, and an old fork.
- **D.** They all looked better than that hair clip had, so maybe there was potential for them after all.

Extended Constructed-Response

Write a conclusion to the story in which Maura goes home with her mother and expresses what she learned from her day on the farm.

Be sure to include what Maura and her mother say to each other and what Maura plans to do after they talk.

Narrative Writer's Checklist

Be sure to:

- Write a narrative response that develops a real or imagined experience.
- Establish a situation and introduce a narrator and/or characters.
- Organize events in a clear and logical order.
 - Use a variety of transitions to sequence the events and to indicate shifts from one time frame or setting to another.
- Use dialogue, description, and/or pacing to:
 - develop events.
 - develop characters.
- Use precise words and phrases, relevant descriptive details, and sensory language to describe the events.
- Include a conclusion.
- Use ideas and/or details from the passage(s).
- Check your work for correct usage, grammar, spelling, capitalization, and punctuation.

Now write your narrative on your answer document. Refer to the Writer's Checklist as you write and proofread your narrative.

SAMPLE ITEM KEYS

Item	Standard/ Element/ Genre	DOK Level	Correct Answer	Explanation
1	ELAGSE6RL1 Literary	2	D	The correct answer is choice (D) He is determined. The context reveals that Grandpa has been looking for the ring for a long time, yet he is still determined to find it. Choices (A) and (B) are incorrect because although other details in the story support these traits, this example does not. Choice (C) is incorrect; the context of the quoted sentence does not support this conclusion about Grandpa.
2	ELAGSE6RL5 Literary	2	С	The correct answer is choice (C) It contrasts the organizational styles of Grandpa and Maura's parents. Grandpa's garage is neat and tidy, while Maura's mother's garage is messy and disorganized. Choice (A) is incorrect because the mere observation of Grandpa's garage does not teach Maura a lesson. Choice (B) is incorrect because the characters are not in the garage for the majority of the action, so the garage is not the main setting. Choice (D) is incorrect because Maura's mother has a messy garage, not an organized one like Grandpa's.
3	ELAGSE6RL2 Literary	3	3 D/D	The correct answer is choice (D) Working hard when faced with difficulties can lead to success and choice (D) They all looked better than that hair clip had, so maybe there was potential for them after all. This is a theme that recurs throughout the story as Maura finds renewed enthusiasm for her art projects and understands that the time spent with her grandfather and the metal detector produces treasures, even though she thinks it is more trouble than it is worth initially. The answer choice for Part B of the item shows text that supports this theme.
				In Part A, choice (A) is incorrect because Maura never behaves in an unkind manner. Choice (B) is incorrect because it is made clear that Maura believes her mother had " been born good at everything." Choice (C) is incorrect because there is no indication that Maura is lonely. The incorrect options in Part B support incorrect answer options in Part A.
4	ELAGSE6W3	4	N/A	See scoring rubric beginning on page 89 and sample responses on page 27.

EXAMPLE SCORING RUBRIC AND EXEMPLAR RESPONSES

Item 4

To view the four-point holistic rubric for a text-based narrative response, see pages 89 and 90.

Points Awarded	Sample Response
	I followed Mother into the kitchen. Mother asked, "How was your day?"
	"Good. Grandpa bought a new metal detector, so we went looking for Grandma's ring again."
	"Did you find it?"
4	"No," I said. "But somehow I think we actually might find the ring this summer. We did find a box of old toys and a tarnished hair clip. Grandpa and I cleaned it up, and it looked brand-new. Grandma was pretty excited when we gave it to her."
	Mother pulled some dinner ingredients out of the refrigerator. "Sounds like you have a new summer plan."
	"Yep. When we find that ring, Grandma's going to be so happy."
	As I climbed the stairs toward my room, Mother asked what I was doing. "I'm headed off to finish a drawing," I said.
	Mother and I went to the kitchen. She asked me about my day, and I told her that Grandpa had bought a metal detector that we'd used to find some old toys and a hair clip. "We cleaned up that dirty hair clip until it looked brand-new. Grandma was so happy. Next time I go to the farm, I will help Grandpa find her missing ring."
3	"Sounds like you have a new summer plan."
	I ran upstairs to my room to pick out an art project to finish. I imagined how it would look framed on my grandparents' wall.
	Mother and I went into the kitchen, and she asked me about my day. I told her about my adventures with Grandpa and how we found an old hair clip and made it look brand-new.
2	I told Mother that Grandma loved the clip, but we still had to look for her ring. I told her Grandpa and I would find it next time.
	I ran upstairs to my room.
1	My mother and I went to the kitchen when we got home. I told her about my day and she was happy that I had finished something. Then I talked to my dad about quitting baseball.
0	I went home with my mother after a day at the farm.

Exemplar Response

ACTIVITY

The following activity develops skills in Unit 1: Reading Literary Text.

Standards: ELAGSE6RL1, ELAGSE6RL3, ELAGSE6RL6

Become a Character from a Literary Text

Read any literary text of your own choosing. It can be a story, novel, play, or story poem.

- Participate in a first-person-only response group with your friends or family.
- Answer all questions about what you read from a first-person perspective, as if you were an actual character in the story.

Step into the mind of any character you choose. You should think like the character and explain how the character feels and why.

- Each person selects one character from a different literary text he or she has read.
- Be prepared to answer questions as your character.

Write down some questions to ask each other. Here are some sample questions you can use.

Sample Question Starters

- Why did you . . . ?
- What made you choose . . . ?
- Why did you treat _____ that way?
- How did you expect things to turn out?
- How did you feel when . . . ?
- What made you say . . . ?
- Would you ever . . . ?
- Will you change your ways after what happened?
- What did you learn about yourself?

Unit 2: Reading Informational Text

READING PASSAGES: INFORMATIONAL TEXT

Content Description

The informational passages in the English Language Arts test are used to determine central ideas, write objective summaries, analyze ideas, and provide supporting text evidence. You may be asked to write a narrative in response to a prompt based on an informational passage. For more information about narrative writing, please refer to Unit 3.

Key Ideas and Details

- Read closely to know exactly what the passage says.
- Look for key ideas and details that tell you what the passage is about.
- Use these key ideas and details when writing or speaking about the passage.
- Look for a central idea of the passage and think about how the author conveys this central idea through particular details.
- Think about how the author develops a key individual, event, or idea in the passage.
- Summarize the passage without including your personal opinion about the topic.

Craft and Structure

- Make sure you understand the words and phrases as they are used in the passage, including figurative, connotative, and technical meanings of words.
- Think about how specific sentences, paragraphs, chapters, and sections develop ideas. Pay attention to the differences in structure for paragraphs that present evidence, provide a quote, share an anecdote, or include other types of support.
- Think about the author's point of view or purpose in a passage.

Integration of Knowledge and Ideas

- Think about the argument and specific claims in a passage. Which claims are supported by reasons and evidence?
- Compare and contrast how two authors present information about a topic or an event.

KEY TERMS

Informational texts: Informational texts are passages that explain or inform. (RI)

Inference: To infer means to come to a reasonable conclusion based on evidence found in the text. By contrast, an **explicit** idea or message is fully stated or revealed by the author. The author tells the reader exactly what he or she needs to know. (RI1)

Central idea: The central idea is the most important point or idea that the author is making in a text. The central idea is also known as the main idea. (RI2)

Objective summary: An objective summary is an overview of a text. It captures the main points but does not give every detail and does not include opinions. (RI2)

Fact and opinion: A fact is a statement that can be proven. An opinion is a statement that cannot be proven, as it states an author's belief or judgment about something. Deciding whether a statement is a fact often comes down to a single question: "Is it something that can be proven?" If it can be proven, then it is a fact. If not, it is an opinion. (RI2)

Anecdote: An anecdote is a short story about an interesting person or event. An author may use an anecdote to support or demonstrate his or her main purpose or claim. (RI3)

Figurative meaning: Literal meaning refers to the actual meaning of a word or phrase. By contrast, figurative meaning refers to the symbolic meaning of words or phrases and uses figurative language such as personification (describing an object as if it were a person), simile (a comparison using *like* or *as*), metaphor (a descriptive comparison that states one thing is another), hyperbole (exaggeration beyond belief), and idiom (a quirky expression or saying that is specific to a language). The literal meaning of the phrase *open the door* is to open a physical door; however, the phrase *open the door to your heart* has a figurative meaning because we do not intend for the person to create an opening in his or her chest. Instead, the phrase symbolizes opening up one's feelings and emotions. (RI4)

Connotative meaning: A meaning beyond the explicit meaning of a word is known as a connotative meaning. For example, the word *childlike* connotes innocence. Connotations are meanings inferred from certain words. (RI4)

Organization: Organization refers to the way in which a piece of writing is structured. Each sentence, paragraph, or chapter fits into the overall structure of a text and contributes to the development of ideas. **Organizational structures** include chronological order, cause and effect, compare and contrast, order of importance, and problem and solution. (RI5)

- **Chronological order:** Chronological order is the order in which a series of events happened. A text that is arranged in order of time from the beginning to the end is in chronological order. (RI5)
- **Cause and effect:** This is a relationship in which one thing causes another thing to happen. (RI5)
- **Compare and contrast:** The structure of compare and contrast analyzes the relationships between ideas in a text. Comparing analyzes the similarities, while contrasting analyzes the differences. (RI5, RI9)
- **Order of importance:** Order of importance organizes text by listing supporting details from most important to least important, or by least important to most important. (RI5)
- **Problem and solution:** Text that is organized by problem and solution identifies a problem and proposes one or more solutions. An author may use problem and solution to try to persuade readers about a certain topic or course of action. (RI5)

Author's purpose: The author's purpose is the author's intention for his or her piece. All passages have a purpose, whether it is to persuade, inform, explain, or entertain. (RI6)

Author's point of view: The opinion of the author is known as the author's point of view. Your opinion may differ from the opinion of the author of a passage. (RI6)

Integrate: To integrate information means to put together key details and evidence from sources to show an understanding of the topic or issue. (RI7)

Claim: A claim is the main **argument** made by the author. A strong claim will be supported by reasons and evidence. (RI8)

Reasons: Reasons are details that support the author's particular points in a text. (RI8)

Evidence: Evidence refers to something that proves the truth of something else. Informational texts may contain evidence in the form of key words, illustrations, maps, or photographs to prove that the information is correct. (RI8)

Important Tips

- Try to read the questions about an informational text before you read the text so that you know what to look out for.
- \swarrow Use evidence from a passage to help explain what is being said.
- Solution States and details to support ideas and to answer what you know and how you know it.

SAMPLE ITEMS

Read the article and answer questions 5 through 7.

Daylight Saving Time

History

In the eighteenth century, Benjamin Franklin had an idea that became what we know today as daylight saving time (DST). Franklin realized that in some seasons, people wasted several hours of daylight while they slept. Then, in the evenings, they had to rely on candles. Candles were very expensive, and Franklin wanted to save money. He did not suggest a change in the clock. Instead, he urged people to get up earlier and go to bed earlier. However, this idea eventually led to DST.

How It Works

The concept of DST is fairly simple. Every fall, we "fall back," or set our clocks back by one hour. This helps us maximize winter's minimal hours of daylight. Every spring, we "spring forward," or set our clocks ahead by one hour. In essence, we gain an hour in the fall and lose an hour in the spring. In the United States, all states except Hawaii and most of Arizona participate in DST.

Public Opinion

Supporters of DST like having plenty of time to be active outside. When people are outside, they are not using electricity at home. Therefore, they may save money on energy costs. But critics claim that DST does not actually save energy. Some research suggests that increased electricity use in the morning cancels out decreased electricity use in the evening. For example, increased air conditioning costs cancel out decreased lighting costs.

Some people argue that an extra hour of evening daylight actually encourages people to spend money. For example, they leave the house to shop. If saving money is the goal of DST, it likely fails.

Health Concerns

Many people have trouble adjusting to the DST changes, especially in the spring. Some people are groggy for several days as their bodies adapt. Some researchers suggest that this adjustment period may damage the heart due to interrupted sleep cycles. Reduced sleep decreases productivity. It also increases tiredness and harms overall health.

Making the Adjustment Easier

Experts suggest that people ease into a DST shift. A few days before the change, in the spring, for example, people can start going to bed fifteen minutes earlier. Then they can gradually increase the change until they reach an hour. Experts also recommend taking a daily nap, as long as it is not too close to bedtime. Finally, moderate exercise several times per week helps people get higher-quality sleep.

Selected-Response

How does the section "Public Opinion" contribute to the article?

- A. It shows that DST is no longer controversial.
- **B.** It suggests that DST does not meet its goals.
- C. It provides a balanced report of both perspectives.
- **D.** It helps readers adjust to losing an hour each spring.

Item 6

Selected-Response

Which conclusion about DST can the reader draw based on this detail from the article?

In the United States, all states except Hawaii and most of Arizona participate in DST.

- A. Each state has the option of participating in DST.
- **B.** In the South, DST has proven to be less effective.
- **C.** The government is considering changing DST rules.
- **D.** DST is only controversial in the western United States.

Drag-and-Drop Technology-Enhanced

Complete the chart by moving ONE detail from the passage to EACH empty box in the chart to show how the author conveys point of view in the passage. Author's Viewpoint Detail from the Passage that Conveys Point of View There are some steps people can take to adapt to DST. DST does not necessarily lead to lower energy consumption. Franklin realized that in some seasons, people wasted several hours of daylight while they slept. This helps us maximize winter's minimal hours of daylight. In essence, we gain an hour in the fall and lose an hour in the spring. Some research suggests that increased electricity use in the morning cancels out decreased electricity use in the evening. Experts also recommend taking a daily nap, as long as it is not too close to bedtime. Select to Respond

Due to the size of the response area, this item has a "Select to Respond" button on the screen. Clicking this button will bring up the response area at full size.

Go on to the next page to finish item 7.

Item 7. Continued.

Author's Viewpoint	Detail from the Passage that Conveys Point of View		
here are some steps people an take to adapt to DST.	•		
ST does not necessarily lead lower energy consumption.	•		
several ho	alized that in some seasons, people wasted urs of daylight while they slept. us maximize winter's minimal hours of daylight.		
In essence, we gain an hour in the fall and lose an hour in the spring.			
the spring. Some rese			

Use a mouse, touchpad, or touchscreen to move the sentences below the chart into the boxes in the chart.

SAMPLE ITEM KEYS

Item	Standard/ Element/ Genre	DOK Level	Correct Answer	Explanation
5	ELAGSE6RI5 Informational/ Explanatory	2	В	The correct answer is choice (B) It suggests that DST does not meet its goals. The end of the section explicitly states, "If saving money is the goal of DST, it likely fails." Choice (A) is incorrect because the existence of multiple perspectives implies that DST is, in fact, controversial. Choice (C) is incorrect because the section is not balanced; it is biased toward critics of DST. Choice (D) is incorrect because this section does nothing to help readers adjust to DST; this role is filled by the article's final paragraph.
6	ELAGSE6RI1 Informational/ Explanatory	2	A	The correct answer is choice (A) Each state has the option of participating in DST. Since Hawaii and parts of Arizona do not participate, DST must be optional. Choice (B) is incorrect because although one of the non-participating states is in the Southwest, there is no indication that DST is not as effective there. Choice (C) is incorrect because the sentence does not express the government's plans. Choice (D) is incorrect because the controversy is not limited to one area.
7	ELAGSE6RI6 Informational/ Explanatory	3	N/A	See scoring rubric and exemplar response on page 37.

EXAMPLE SCORING RUBRIC AND EXEMPLAR RESPONSE

Item 7

Scoring Rubric

Points	Description	
2	The student correctly fills in both rows.	
1	The student correctly fills in one row.	
0	The student does not correctly fill in either row.	

Exemplar Response

The correct response is shown below.

Author's Viewpoint	Detail from the Passage that Conveys Point of View
There are some steps people can take to adapt to DST.	•
OST does not necessarily lead b lower energy consumption.	•
	alized that in some seasons, people wasted urs of daylight while they slept.
This helps	us maximize winter's minimal hours of daylight.
•	e, we gain an hour in the fall and lose an hour in
In essence the spring Some rese	e, we gain an hour in the fall and lose an hour in

The correct response in the first row is "Experts also recommend taking a daily nap, as long as it is not too close to bedtime" because it supports the idea of adapting to daylight saving time (napping is a "step" in easing the difficulty of the adjustment period). The correct answer in the second row is "Some research suggests that increased electricity use in the morning cancels out decreased electricity use in the evening." This response is correct because "cancels out decreased electricity use" supports the idea that daylight saving time does not necessarily lead to lower energy consumption. NOTE: Response order does affect scoring.

Unit 3: Writing

CONTENT DESCRIPTION

In this unit, you will be reading passages that are similar to passages you may read in the Georgia Milestones End-of-Grade assessment. You will use the passages as sources of support for argumentative and informational/explanatory essays and as jumping-off points for narrative writing.

Some informational passages will help you develop arguments and support a point of view on a topic in an argumentative essay. In your writing, you will use evidence, examples, quotations, and reasons to develop and support your argument. Other informational passages will help you develop an informational/ explanatory essay. In your writing, you will state ideas, summarize research, and use information from more than one source to develop and support your ideas.

You will also write a narrative in response to a prompt based on a literary or informational passage or a paired passage set you have read. A paired passage set may consist of two literary passages, two informational passages, or one of each passage type. Narrative prompts will vary depending on passage type. For example, you may be asked to write a new beginning or ending to a literary story, write an original story based on information from an informational text, or rewrite a scene from a specific character's point of view. In your writing, you will use narrative techniques to develop a real or imagined experience.

There will also be writing standalone items that assess your revision skills and your understanding of argumentative, informational/explanatory, and narrative writing. For example, you may be asked to answer a selected-response question that focuses only on introducing a topic in an informational text. In addition, there will be writing standalone items that assess your planning and research skills.

Writing Types and Purposes

Argumentative Essay

- An argumentative essay takes a stand, or presents an argument and claims, on a topic.
- When you state your claims, you need to support them with clear reasons and relevant evidence, using credible sources.

Informational/Explanatory Essay

- An informational/explanatory essay examines a topic and conveys ideas, concepts, and information through the selection, organization, and analysis of relevant information.
- When you develop your topic, use relevant facts, definitions, concrete details, quotations, and other information and examples.

Narrative

- A narrative develops a real or imagined experience or event.
- When you develop your narrative, use narrative techniques, descriptive details, and clear event sequences.

Production and Distribution of Writing

- Use the writing process to develop argumentative essays, informational/explanatory essays, and narratives.
- Produce writing with an organization and style that fit the task, purpose, and audience.
- Strengthen your writing by reviewing and revising, if needed.

Argumentative Essay

- Introduce a claim or claims and organize the reasons and evidence clearly.
- Develop your argument by supporting claims with clear reasons and relevant evidence.
- Use words and phrases to create cohesion and to clarify the relationships among claim(s) and reasons.
- Establish and maintain a formal style.
- Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from the argument presented in the essay.

Informational/Explanatory Essay

- Introduce a topic clearly and organize ideas, concepts, and information, using strategies such as definition, classification, comparison/contrast, and cause/effect.
- Develop your topic with relevant facts, definitions, concrete details, quotations, and other information and examples.
- Use appropriate transitions to clarify the relationships among ideas and concepts.
- Use precise language to inform about or explain the topic.
- Establish and maintain a formal style.
- Provide a concluding statement or section that follows from and supports the information or explanation presented in the essay.

Narrative

- Establish a context and introduce a narrator and/or characters.
- Organize ideas, thoughts, or events in a sequence that unfolds naturally and logically.
- Develop the experiences, events, and/or characters in your narrative by using techniques such as dialogue, description, and pacing.
- Use a variety of transitional words and phrases to sequence events and signal shifts from one time frame or setting to another.
- Use precise words and phrases, relevant descriptive details, and sensory language to convey experiences and events.
- Include a conclusion that follows from the narrated experiences or events.

Audience, Purpose, and Voice

- As you write, remember who your audience will be.
- Remember, you are writing for a purpose—think about *what* you are writing and *why*.
- As you write argumentative or informational/explanatory essays, reveal your writing voice by using language that matches the content, connects with your intended readers, and reveals your personality and writing style.
- As you write your narrative, reveal your writing voice by choosing a narrator and point of view that allow your readers to experience the story and relate to the characters in a meaningful way.

Research to Build and Present Knowledge

- Conduct a short research project that uses several sources to answer a question.
- Gather relevant information from multiple sources, including print and digital sources. Make sure to consult multiple sources in multiple formats to establish the validity of your information.
- Avoid plagiarism by quoting or paraphrasing the data and conclusions of others. Give credit for work that you use by providing bibliographic information.
- Use evidence from literary or informational texts to support analysis, reflection, and research.

Range of Writing

• Write routinely over extended time frames (time for research, reflection, and revision) and shorter time frames (a single sitting or a day or two) for a range of tasks, purposes, and audiences.

Scoring Rubrics

- A narrative scoring rubric can be found beginning on page 89. An informational/explanatory scoring rubric can be found beginning on page 91. An argumentative scoring rubric can be found beginning on page 93. You may find it helpful to read and discuss these rubrics with a parent or another adult.
- The rubrics are important to understand because they show you what is needed to produce a strong piece of argumentative, informational/explanatory, or narrative writing.
- Argumentative, informational/explanatory, and narrative writing on the EOG assessment will be scored using these rubrics.

KEY TERMS

Argumentative texts: Argumentative texts are forms of writing in which the writer makes a claim and supports that claim with reasons and evidence. (W1)

Argument: An argument is the main statement of an argumentative text, which usually appears in the introduction. The argument is the main point on which the writer will develop his or her work in order to convince readers. (W1)

Claims: Claims are ideas and opinions set forth by the writer. For example, a writer could make the claim that the school cafeteria food is too expensive. (W1)

Introduction: The introduction is the beginning of a piece of writing. The introduction should let readers know what they will be reading about, and it should set up the main idea, or thesis, of the writing. (W1a, W2a)

Organization: In writing, the organization helps present ideas and information more clearly. Writers use transitions to organize information. Also, an entire piece of writing has an organizational structure to it. Writers structure their texts to match their purpose and audience. For example, if you were writing an argumentative text in which you wanted to show the negative effects of something, you might choose cause and effect as an organizational structure. In informational/explanatory writing, organizational structures may include definition, classification, compare and contrast, or cause and effect. For example, if you were writing an informational essay in which you want to show how two animals are similar or different, you might choose comparison and contrast as an organizational structure. (W1a, W2a, W4)

Reasons: Reasons are the **evidence** given to support a writer's claims. For example, a writer could include information on the price of a school lunch or the number of students who don't want to buy it as reasons to support the claim that the school cafeteria food is too expensive. (W1b)

Credible source: For a claim to be effective, it must be supported with a credible source. Credible sources provide evidence and facts that support the writer's claim. (W1b)

Relationships: Relationships in writing refer to the ways in which ideas are connected. Writing should use words, phrases, and clauses to clarify the relationships between claims and reasons. (W1c)

Formal style: A formal style is less personal and is used in writing such as an essay, research paper, or business letter. When writing in a formal style, the writer chooses language that matches the audience and purpose and avoids informal language. (W1d)

Concluding statement: The conclusion is the end of a piece of writing. The concluding statement should sum up the main purpose of the writing and provide an overall takeaway for the reader. (W1e, W2f)

Informational/explanatory texts: Forms of writing that inform the reader or explain something are known as informational/explanatory texts. (W2)

Topic: A topic is what a piece of writing is about. (W2a)

Formatting: Formatting is the way in which a piece of writing is organized, designed, and arranged. For example, a writer can use headings and subheadings to organize the writing and present the information in a clear way. (W2a)

Multimedia: Multimedia refers to a variety of media. Writing does not include only pen on paper or a typed essay. Other ways of enhancing writing can include media such as art, presentations, photographs, charts, and videos. (W2a)

Transition: A transition is a word, phrase, or clause that links one idea to the next. Writing should not jump from one idea to the next without transitions that guide the reader to the next idea. Examples include words such as *another, for example, also,* and *because.* (W2c)

Precise language: Good writers choose their words carefully. Specific and vivid words and phrases describe or explain and make meaning clear. The sentence *A bird was on the ground* is very general and does not use precise language. However, that sentence could be rewritten using more specific nouns and verbs: *A robin landed in the grassy field*. (W2d, W3d)

Formal style: A formal style is used in formal writing, such as an essay, research paper, or formal letter. When writing in a formal style, the writer chooses language that matches the audience and purpose and avoids informal language. (W2e)

Narrative: A narrative is a real or imaginary story that may be about a situation, a single moment in time, or a series of related events and experiences. Experiences are what a character senses through his or her five senses or what a character thinks or feels. Narratives may be about a single moment in time but focus on how one character thinks and feels about it. Narratives may be about a single moment in time but focus on how several different characters think and feel about it. Narratives may also be about a series of related events and experiences and how a character feels about them. Good writers order the thoughts, feelings, events, and experiences in a way that makes sense to the reader and communicates the meaning or message writers want the reader to understand. (W3)

Experience: An experience is an event or series of events that happen to or are seen by a character. In a narrative, characters learn, grow, or find meaning by going through an experience. Any experience in a narrative may be described as a single event (*Mary's team won the soccer game*) or as a series of events (*Mary kicked the ball toward the goal. The goalie dived but missed the ball. The ball landed inside the goal. Mary had scored the winning point. Her team won the game!*). A character may have an experience that he or she is part of (*Mary kicked the soccer ball into the goal*). A character may also watch or observe an experience without being part of it (*Mary watched as her two older brothers played against each other on different soccer teams*). A narrative may include more than one experience. (W3)

Event: An event is a single thing that happens to a character or that a character sees. For example, *John caught the soccer ball* is an event. It is a single thing that happened to the character John. (W3)

Orient the reader: Good writers engage or interest readers and pull them into the narrative by sharing important information that will allow readers to understand what follows. Good writers create context, which is the background information about a story's setting, environment, or structure, to help readers understand what the story means. When orienting a reader and providing context, writers establish one or more points of view, introduce a narrator and/or characters, describe the setting, establish the pace of the story, and set out a problem, situation, or observation that will drive the narrative. This information should be shared in a way that engages the reader and encourages the reader to follow the story and identify with or have opinions about the characters, situation, and meaning. (W3a)

- **Introduction:** Good writers carefully orient the reader by sharing just enough information in the opening paragraphs of the narrative to create interest and help the reader understand where and when the story is happening. There is no one right way to write an introduction. Introductions may include dialogue, a description of the setting, an introduction of the narrator, a description of a character, an explanation of the situation, or any combination of these. Good writers create a unique introduction for each narrative that best fits the characters, events, tone, pacing, and theme. (W3a)
- **Narrator:** The narrator is the person the writer chooses to tell a story. The narrator may be a character in the story. The narrator may also record the characters' actions, words, and thoughts but not be a character in the story. (W3a)
- **Characters:** Characters are persons, things, or beings in stories. The characters may be real or imaginary. The details a writer shares about characters—the way they think, talk, and act—help readers understand the characters' personalities. (W3a)

Sequence: Sequence is the order of events in a narrative. Often, the events in a story are told in the exact order they happened. Sometimes a story is told out of order to create surprise or help the reader learn more about the characters and how they think and behave. (W3, W3a)

Narrative techniques: Narrative techniques are the tools writers use to create interesting experiences, events, and characters in a story. (W3, W3b)

• **Dialogue:** Writers use dialogue to show the reader the exact words the characters are saying. Dialogue usually has quotation marks around it. Each time a new character speaks, a new paragraph begins. Readers learn about characters from the way characters speak or respond to a situation. Dialogue can also move the action forward in a story or cause a character to decide something. (W3b)

- **Description:** Good writers use description to help the reader imagine the characters, settings, and events. Description helps make it feel like the reader is living the events of the story, seeing what the character sees, and feeling what the character feels. This sentence does not have good description: *The kids at my new school were friendly.* These sentences use description to help readers see and feel what the character experiences: *I stepped into the classroom. I worried that I would not make new friends in my class.* After the teacher introduced me, she asked me to tell the class where I was from. *"I moved to Georgia from India," I said. "This is my first time in the United States." Everyone in the class smiled at me with shining eyes. "Welcome to our class," a girl in the front row said. "Would you like to sit with me at lunch today?"* (W3b)
- **Pacing:** Pacing is the speed at which a story is told. The pace of a story is influenced by the description of characters, settings, and thoughts or reflections; the use of sensory language; the number of telling details related; the length of sentences, paragraphs, and scenes; dialogue and how many words or sentences a character speaks at one time; and the use of precise word choice. Writers may choose to slow the pace in one part of the narrative and speed up the pace in another or to keep a consistent pace throughout the narrative. (W3b)

Transitional words and phrases: The reader needs clues in a story to help them know how time is passing and how events are ordered. Transitional words and phrases link one idea to the next and help the reader understand how time is passing in the story. Transitional words and phrases also make clear the order in which events happen. Examples of transitional words are *first, next, before, during,* and *finally*. Examples of transitional phrases are *after that, in the beginning, it started when,* and *the next day.* (W3c)

Sensory language: Sensory language describes concrete words and phrases in a way that allows the reader to experience the way things look, sound, smell, taste, or feel through imagination. Good writers share sensory details to help the reader paint a picture of what it would be like to experience the story. For example, the sentence *The hot spring stank* does not help the reader imagine what the hot spring smelled like. The sentence *The hot spring smelled like rotten eggs that had blown up in the microwave* helps the reader better imagine the smell. (W3d)

Conclusion: Every story needs to have an end. The end can be anywhere the writer chooses to stop writing. But the reader needs to feel like the story is over. Good writers create this feeling of ending with a conclusion. In the conclusion, the events of the story stop, and the reader understands one or more of these ideas: what the story meant, what characters learned, how characters felt about the experience, how characters changed, and what the reader can learn from the story. (W3e)

Audience: The people who will be reading the piece of writing are known as the audience. Writers should keep their audience in mind and adjust their ideas and vocabulary so that they can be best understood. (W4)

Purpose: The writer's intention for his or her piece is the writer's purpose. All writing has a purpose, whether it is to persuade, inform, explain, or entertain. (W4)

Revision: Revision is the process of editing and rewriting a piece of writing. All good writing requires revision to catch mistakes and clarify ideas. (W5)

Research: Research refers to gathering information in order to learn more about a topic. (W7, W9)

Source: A source is a book, article, website, person, or piece of media that contains information. (W7, W8)

Credibility: Credible sources provide evidence and facts that support the writer's claim. When a writer uses the evidence and facts from the source to support his or her reasoning and persuade the audience to agree with the writer's claim, the writer gains credibility. (W8)

Paraphrase: To paraphrase means to use someone else's ideas and express those ideas in your own words. Paraphrasing is an acceptable way to support your argument as long as you attribute the ideas to the author and cite the source in the text at the end of the sentence. (W8)

Plagiarism: Plagiarism refers to presenting the words, works, or ideas of someone else as though they are one's own and without providing attribution to the author. (W8)

Evidence: Evidence is something that proves the truth of something else. Informational texts may include facts, opinions of experts, quotes, statistics, and definitions that can be used as evidence. In literary text, the characters' thoughts, words, or actions may be used as evidence. (W9)

Important Tips

Argumentative and Informational/Explanatory Essays

- Solution of the second structure of the second structure in the second structure of the second structure of the second structure in the second structure of the second structure is the second structure of the second structure is second structure of the second structure in the second structure is second structure of the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure in the second structure is second structure in the second structure i
- In your argumentative essay, be sure to develop your argument with reasons supported by facts and details. In your informational/explanatory essay, be sure to develop your topic with details, such as facts, definitions, quotations, or other information that supports your topic.
- Make sure your writing has a concluding statement that supports the argument or information presented.

Narrative

- Z Organize thoughts, ideas, or events in a clear and logical order.
- Solution Section 2018 Section 2018 Section 2018 Section 2018 And Section 2018 Secti
- ✓ Make sure your narrative has a conclusion.

Argumentative, Informational/Explanatory, and Narrative Writing

- Strengthen your writing by planning, revising, editing, rewriting, or trying a new approach.
- Solution Use the writer's checklist before, during, and after writing to make sure you are meeting the criteria.

SAMPLE ITEMS

The practice writing items for this unit include an extended writing-response item, an extended constructed-response item, and writing standalone items. There are also sample reading comprehension items connected to the passages you will read in this unit. You will have sample selected-response, evidence-based selected-response, and/or constructed-response items in this section. In the actual assessment, there is often a mix of reading comprehension and extended constructed-response and/or extended writing-response items connected to one passage or passage set.

Sample Items 8–11

Extended Writing-Response (Argumentative or Informational/Explanatory Essay)

In Section 1 of the Georgia Milestones End-of-Grade assessment, you will be asked to comprehend a pair of informational passages and use information from the passages to write an argumentative or informational/explanatory essay. The structure of the practice items in this unit is similar to how the task will appear in Section 1 of the End-of-Grade assessment:

- 1. Two selected-response (multiple-choice) questions (three on the actual test)
- 2. A constructed-response question
- 3. An extended writing-response question

The instructions for the extended writing prompt are in the same form as those that appear on the Georgia Milestones assessment. In the actual assessment, you will receive either an argumentative or an informational/explanatory writing task. The sample provided in this resource is an example of an argumentative writing task.

This section of the test assesses your skill to comprehend reading passages and use information from the passages to write an argumentative essay.

Before you begin writing your essay, you will read two passages and answer two multiple-choice questions and one short constructed-response question about what you have read.

As you read the passages, think about details you may use in an argumentative essay about the use of genetically modified organisms, or GMOs.

These are the titles of the passages you will read:

- 1. GMOs Can Feed the World
- 2. Are GMOs Really Safe?

GMOs Can Feed the World

Genetically modified organisms, or GMOs, are changing the way nations feed their people. In the past, farmers had to worry about droughts, disease, and other hardships. Now, crops can be bred to withstand these forces. The result is an abundance of food that will feed the world.

One benefit of GMOs is that crops can be strengthened. In this way, scientists can protect crops from harmful weeds and diseases. For example, wild sunflowers are found all over the United States. Each one contains a trait that could help human-grown sunflowers. For instance, a wild sunflower that grows in the desert has traits that allow it to survive on little water. Scientists can isolate this gene and transfer it to the DNA, or genetic material, of a commercial sunflower. This allows farmers to grow sunflowers even in regions that get little water. It also helps farmers in climates with four distinct seasons protect crops from dry spells.

GMOs have many health-related benefits. Scientists can create foods that taste better. If healthy fruits and vegetables taste better, people are more likely to eat them, which will in turn improve their health. In addition, some GMO crops actually have greater nutritional value than their commercial counterparts. Foods can also be bred to last longer. This allows people to store their fresh produce longer and prevent a lot of waste. All these benefits can be created in a laboratory.

Some critics caution that GMOs pose health risks. For instance, they blame GMOs for food allergies. Allergies are not a new phenomenon, however. Many studies have been done on GMOs, and there has never been any proof linking GMOs to health risks.

Finally, GMOs provide financial benefits. With more crops available, prices decline. This saves consumers money, which allows them to buy more healthful foods. It also gives farmers more money because they have more crops to sell.

Research continues every day. Soon, there will be GMO versions of other common crops. Tomatoes and potatoes, for instance, may soon be able to withstand disease and drought. Then other crops will follow. The possibilities are as endless as the benefits GMOs bring to your health.

Are GMOs Really Safe?

Genetically modified organisms (GMOs) are plants or other organisms whose genetic structure has been changed by scientists. Scientists make these changes by taking desirable genes from other organisms. Then they add these genes to the DNA of plants. Corn and soy are often changed this way.

The purpose of this swap is to make crops stronger and more resistant to disease and parasites. Supporters believe that GMOs can also be used to produce crops that have a bigger yield. This would feed more people. Some crops can even be developed to survive droughts and hardships that would otherwise destroy them.

While all of these benefits sound good, some people have a bleaker outlook. Skeptics worry about the effects of GMOs on humans. Although the U.S. government has declared that GMOs are safe, some experts suspect that they cause food allergies in children and adults. The only way to find out for sure is to conduct long-term testing.

In addition to possibly causing food allergies, GMOs may also have a lower nutritional value than unmodified crops do. Until more studies are done, the public cannot know for sure.

Finally, people are concerned about the increased use of pesticides on GMO crops. It is true that these crops are engineered to survive pesticides. However, this has resulted in the growth of superbugs that require even greater amounts of pesticides. GMO crops are doused with extra chemicals. Later, they line the shelves of your local supermarket or become part of processed foods.

As of now, testing has not confirmed the risks associated with GMOs. Some consumers opt to purchase only non-GMO foods just to be safe. However, it is hard to tell which foods have GMOs. The United States does not require companies to label products that contain GMOs. However, any item labeled as organic and verified by the USDA does not have GMO ingredients.

The field is divided on GMOs for now. Producers proclaim the benefits. Meanwhile, some scientists ask for more testing to confirm the safety of these crops. Until then, consumers will have to educate themselves about the foods they buy.

Selected-Response

What is one benefit of GMOs that BOTH authors acknowledge?

- A. that genetic modifications can make crops more affordable
- B. that GMO crops can be engineered to survive droughts
- C. that genetic modifications can help people overcome allergies
- D. that GMO crops have greater nutritional value

Item 9

Selected-Response

How does the author of "Are GMOs Really Safe?" support an argument about GMOs and pesticides?

- **A.** by stating that GMOs require increasing amounts of pesticides
- **B.** by suggesting that GMOs can process pesticides in a healthy way
- C. by claiming that pesticides damage GMO crops more than non-GMO crops
- D. by explaining that organic pesticides can be used effectively on GMOs

Constructed-Response

How are the viewpoints of "GMOs Can Feed the World" and "Are GMOs Really Safe?" different?

Use details from BOTH passages to support your answer. Write your answer on the lines on your answer document.

Extended Writing-Response

WRITING TASK

There is currently a discussion about the benefits and risks of consuming foods that have been genetically modified.

Think about BOTH sides of the discussion. Then write an **argumentative essay** in your own words supporting either side. In your essay, you will argue for or against the use of GMOs.

Be sure to use information from BOTH passages in your argumentative essay.

Writer's Checklist

Be sure to:

- Introduce your claim.
- Support your claim with logical reasons and relevant evidence from the passages.
- Organize the reasons and evidence logically.
- Develop your ideas clearly and use your own words, except when quoting directly from the passages.
- Identify the passages by title or number when using details or facts directly from the passages.
- Use words, phrases, or clauses to connect ideas and to clarify the relationships among claims, reasons, and evidence.
- Establish and maintain a formal style.
- Use clear language and vocabulary.
- Provide a conclusion that supports the argument presented.
- Check your work for correct usage, grammar, spelling, capitalization, and punctuation.

Now write your argumentative essay on your answer document. Refer to the Writer's Checklist as you write and proofread your essay.

Sample Items 12–15

Extended Constructed-Response (Narrative)

On the Georgia Milestones End-of-Grade assessment, you will write a narrative in response to a prompt based on a literary or informational passage or a paired passage set you have read. In the actual assessment, you will also respond to reading comprehension questions before writing your narrative. Narrative prompts will vary depending on passage type. The sample provided in this resource is an example of a narrative prompt based on an informational passage.

Read the passage and answer questions 12 through 15.

Messages from the Sea

In 2018, Tonya Illman was walking on a beach in Australia. Suddenly, she spotted a yellow glass bottle partly hidden under the sand. At first, she thought the bottle would make a nice decoration in her home. When she looked closely, though, Illman realized this was not just a beautiful bottle. It contained a piece of paper with writing. Could she solve the mystery behind it?

Clues from the Past

When Illman got home, she removed the paper from the bottle and gently unrolled the paper. It had German words on both sides. Illman and her husband could decode some of the handwriting. They could read the date June 12, but the year was impossible to read. They also noticed part of a word, with the letters "aula." Could that be the name of a ship?

Illman contacted Ross Anderson, an employee at a nearby museum. Anderson told her that indeed there had been a German ship named the *Paula*. Then a phone call from Anderson to experts in Germany helped solve the mystery. These experts found logbooks from the *Paula*'s ocean voyages. During one trip, the captain of the *Paula* had written in his logbook that, on June 12, 1886, he tossed a bottle overboard. The captain often did this to try to measure ocean currents. The note inside this bottle asked the finder to report where it was discovered. The handwriting in the captain's logbook matched the writing in the bottle's note. All these clues proved that Illman had made an extremely rare discovery! She said, "This has been the most remarkable event in my life. . . . [It's astounding] that this bottle has not been touched for nearly 132 years and is in perfect condition." As of 2019, Illman holds the record for the oldest message in a bottle ever found.

Bottle Overboard

The captain of the *Paula* was not the only person to throw bottles from a ship. Centuries ago, many ship captains tossed bottles with messages into oceans and seas. They hoped the bottles would be found by people on shore. Then the bottles' locations might tell the captains about the patterns of ocean currents. There are even stories about the ancient Greeks sending bottles into the Mediterranean Sea. However, these stories cannot be verified because none of the bottles were found.

Many bottles with messages are damaged or never reach land. Often, bottles leak, letting water inside and destroying the paper. Other bottles may simply break and sink to the ocean floor. Some bottles that do reach land end up hidden out of sight like buried treasure.

Research and Rewards

Scientists, too, have dropped many bottles into oceans and seas. Between 1904 and 1906, a scientist named George Bidder tossed over 1,000 bottles into the North Sea. Each bottle contained a postcard that mentioned a modest reward of one shilling. A shilling was an English coin worth about 24 cents in American money in 1906. For those who found Bidder's bottles, receiving a reward was simple. The finder had to fill in the requested information on the bottle's postcard and mail the card to the Marine Biological Association in England.

Hundreds of Bidder's bottles were eventually found. Waves carried them onto the shore. People caught them in fishing nets. One of his bottles was discovered over 100 years later. In 2015, retired postal worker Marianne Winkler stumbled upon one of these bottles in Germany. Then Winkler did what Bidder had requested. She filled out the postcard from the bottle and mailed it. She received her shilling reward!

The Drift Bottle Project

In 2000, Canadian scientist Eddy Carmack became fascinated by messages in bottles and started the Drift Bottle Project. Carmack and many volunteers drop bottles into the water from different ships throughout the world's oceans. They keep track of when and where each bottle is dropped. The bottles are sealed with wax that prevents leaks, and every bottle contains a note with Carmack's contact information. Whenever a bottle is discovered, researchers record the details about when and where it was found. Carmack reports that about one in every 25 bottles is found.

Like other scientists before him, Carmack planned to use his bottle data to help track ocean currents. But his research has turned out to be far more useful than that. His data on the bottles' journeys have provided important clues about the climate, such as the melting patterns of ice in the Arctic. The drift bottles have also shown which direction oil spills and other types of pollution are moving around the world.

Messages in bottles might contribute much more to science in the future. So, those who find themselves on beaches should look and step carefully. Clues might be just ahead, peeking out of the sand.

Evidence-Based Selected-Response Technology-Enhanced

This question has two parts. Answer Part A, and then answer Part B.

Part A

How does the section "Clues from the Past" BEST contribute to the author's development of ideas?

- A. It provides a scientific explanation for why drift bottle notes become damaged over time.
- **B.** It suggests that the older the drift bottle is the more money it can be worth to collectors.
- C. It reveals why it can be exciting and rewarding to solve the mystery of a drift bottle.
- **D.** It explains why many ship captains tossed bottles overboard hundreds of years ago.

Part B

Which detail from the section BEST supports the answer in Part A?

- A. When Illman got home, she removed the paper from the bottle and gently unrolled the paper.
- **B.** Anderson told her that indeed there had been a German ship named the *Paula*.
- C. The note inside this bottle asked the finder to report where it was discovered.
- **D.** As of 2019, Illman holds the record for the oldest message in a bottle ever found.

Item 13

Selected-Response

Read the sentences from the passage.

Illman and her husband could <u>decode</u> some of the handwriting. They could read the date June 12, but the year was impossible to read.

Which statement BEST defines the meaning of the word decode as it is used in the sentences?

- A. to create a new copy of
- B. to transfer to another place
- C. to recognize and understand
- **D.** to change into something different

Selected-Response

Which statement BEST explains the significance of Eddy Carmack's work with drift bottles?

- **A.** Carmack continued the work of scientists who had attempted to solve the mysteries in ship captains' logbooks.
- **B.** Carmack organized a bottle project that provides useful information to scientists about climate and pollution.
- **C.** Carmack developed a method to seal drift bottles to protect their contents from leaks and water damage.
- **D.** Carmack encouraged people who find drift bottles to write down details about when and where they found them.

Extended Constructed-Response

Imagine that you and your friends find a bottle with a message inside of it. Write a story about what happens as you work together to solve the mystery of where the bottle came from. Use ideas from the passage to develop your story.

Narrative Writer's Checklist

Be sure to:

- Write a narrative response that develops a real or imagined experience.
- Establish a situation and introduce a narrator and/or characters.
- Organize events in a clear and logical order.
 - Use a variety of transitions to sequence the events and to indicate shifts from one time frame or setting to another.
- Use dialogue, description, and/or pacing to:
 - develop events.
 - develop characters.
- Use precise words and phrases, relevant descriptive details, and sensory language to describe the events.
- Include a conclusion.
- Use ideas and/or details from the passage(s).
- Check your work for correct usage, grammar, spelling, capitalization, and punctuation.

Now write your narrative on your answer document. Refer to the Writer's Checklist as you write and proofread your narrative.

Sample Items 16–23

Writing Standalone Items

On the Georgia Milestones End-of-Grade assessment, there will be writing standalone items that assess your understanding of argumentative, informational/explanatory, and narrative writing and revision skills. There will also be writing standalone items that assess your writing planning and research skills.

Item 16

Selected-Response

Read the draft of a letter to the school newspaper.

Dear Editor,

¹I appreciate the article you printed in the March newspaper about school clubs and extracurriculars. ²It is important to highlight ways students can become more involved in school activities. ³Not everyone is tuned in to whatever's going on, right? ⁴Your proposal, to host an open house for clubs and extracurriculars, makes a lot of sense. ⁵That way, students are not depending on sheer luck or knowing the "right" person to get into a club or activity. ⁶Students can see what's available, talk to others who are involved, and then decide for themselves if they want to join.

Which revision would maintain the formal style of the letter?

- A. Change sentence 1 to "I support your March article about clubs and extracurricular activities."
- B. Change sentence 2 to "It is really important to show students ways they can do more things at school."
- C. Change sentence 3 to "Not all students are fully aware of the range of activities they can join."
- D. Change sentence 4 to "Your open house proposal of an open house for clubs is a very good idea."

Selected-Response

Read the draft of a student's letter to the city council.

Dear Council Members,

My friends and I are excited about the new bike trail being built from Old Bridge Park to downtown. However, we noticed on the map for the proposed route that the bike trail will stop on North Ferguson, a couple blocks short of Main Street. We would like to ask you to consider extending the bike trail all the way to Main Street. Main Street has more stores and bus routes, and it is many people's destination when they go downtown. Having the bike trail extend farther would provide a safe path for people who need to catch a bus or do other activities on Main Street.

Which sentence BEST concludes the letter?

- **A.** I think we all know what is the right thing to do for the citizens of our city.
- **B.** I hope that you will seriously consider this request and reach out to the community for more input.
- **C.** I wonder if you have really imagined how difficult it will be to get to Main Street with no bike trail?
- **D.** I thank you in advance for agreeing to my proposal and extending the bike trail another two blocks.

Item 18

Selected-Response

Read the paragraph from a student's informational essay.

¹No one knows for certain who first came up with the idea to invent an automobile. ²It is possible that this person was actually the famous artist and inventor Leonardo da Vinci. ³We know from early drawings that he was the first guy on the planet to think something could be used to take people from place to place. ⁴Throughout history, many people have had ideas about transportation. ⁵However, the first true automobile was invented by a man named Karl Benz in 1885 or 1886.

Which revision of sentence 3 BEST maintains the formal style of the paragraph?

- **A.** Some of his early sketches led experts to think da Vinci was the first person to imagine a vehicle that could transport people.
- **B.** Based on his sketches from a long, long time ago, da Vinci knew that people could use some kind of vehicle.
- **C.** Experts saw da Vinci's mega-famous sketches and realized he was the first person to find a way for people to get wherever they wanted to go.
- **D.** You can tell from da Vinci's sketches that he had a gut feeling about inventing a better way for people to get around.

Selected-Response

Read the draft of a student's narrative.

After several weeks of rehearsals, it was finally time for opening night of the school play. As the minutes crept closer to showtime, the whole cast of the play became more and more nervous. Despite this, our theater teacher, Mr. Collins, remained calm. A few minutes before the play was about to begin, he gathered all of us backstage. <u>He shared words of</u> <u>encouragement with us.</u>

Which revision of the underlined sentence BEST uses dialogue to improve the narrative?

- **A.** "The play will begin in just a few moments, so be sure you are ready to take your place onstage!" Mr. Collins announced proudly.
- **B.** "I am glad you are all here on time. Remember that we will need to meet again before tomorrow's show," Mr. Collins said to all of us.
- **C.** "I am so proud of how hard you all have worked to prepare for tonight. Let's have a great show!" Mr. Collins said with a smile.
- **D.** "After we take our final bows, please thank your friends and family who are here tonight to see the play," Mr. Collins said cheerfully.

Selected-Response

Read the paragraph from a student's report about sunflower sea stars.

¹Sea stars are invertebrates that are commonly known as starfish. ²Though most of these creatures have five arms, the sunflower sea star has 15 to 24 arms. ³The sunflower sea star is the largest and one of the fastest of all sea stars. ⁴It is found in the eastern Pacific Ocean from Unalaska Island, Alaska, to Baja California. ⁵Sea stars are known for their ability to regenerate their limbs, and some can even regenerate their entire bodies. ⁶Other invertebrates include jellyfish and earthworms.

Which revision should the student make to improve the paragraph?

- A. Move sentence 1 to the end of the paragraph.
- **B.** Add information about jellyfish to sentence 2.
- **C.** Combine sentences 4 and 5 into one sentence.
- **D.** Remove sentence 6 to eliminate irrelevant information.

Selected-Response

Taia is conducting research on the 1936 Olympic Games, but her research questions are drawing limited results. Which research question would provide the MOST information about this topic?

- A. Which city hosted the 1936 Olympics?
- B. What were some highlights of the 1936 Olympics?
- C. Which countries participated in the 1936 Olympics?
- D. How many medals were awarded at the 1936 Olympics?

Drop-Down Technology-Enhanced

Read the paragraph from a student's opinion essay on cooking classes. Choose the BEST word or phrase from each drop-down menu to connect the ideas in the paragraph.
Cooking is an important life skill that everyone needs to learn to be independent. , schools should require that students take a basic cooking class. The instructor of the cooking class would teach students how to be safe while working in the kitchen.

Use a mouse, touchpad, or touchscreen to click the arrow beside each of the two blank boxes. When you click the arrow, a drop-down menu will appear, showing you all the possible options for that blank. Each drop-down menu with its options is shown below.

Cooking is an important life skill th	at everyone need	s to learn to be independent.	~	, schools should
require that students take a basic	cooking class. The	e instructor of the cooking cla		tudents how to be
safe while working in the kitchen.	~	, students would learn about	However	Ithy eating habits.
			Meanwhile	
	Even so		Therefore	
	For example			,
	In addition			

Drop-Down Technology-Enhanced

A student is revising a paragraph from a draft of an informational essay. Choose the phrase from each drop-down menu that helps produce clear and specific writing about the topic.
When people hear about hibernation, they may think the concept applies only to some bears. However, other animals hibernate as well, including the fat-tailed dwarf lemur of Madagascar. This animal sleeps for during the winter. Lemurs can hibernate this long because their, allowing them to rest, lemurs must eat a great amount of food and store fat to survive.

Use a mouse, touchpad, or touchscreen to click the arrow beside each of the three blank boxes. When you click the arrow, a drop-down menu will appear, showing you all the possible options for that blank. Each drop-down menu with its options is shown on the next page.

Go on to the next page to finish item 23.

Item 23. Continued.

When people hear about hibernation, they may think the concept applies only to some bears. However, other animals hibernate as well, including the fat-tailed dwarf lemur of Madagascar. This animal sleeps for during the winter. Lemurs can hibernate this ~ long because their , allowing them to rest. × lemurs must eat a grea an extended period at to survive. up to seven months an incredibly long time When people hear about hibernation, they may think the concept applies only to some bears. However, other animals hibernate as well, including the fat-tailed dwarf lemur of Madagascar. ✓ during the winter. Lemurs can hibernate this This animal sleeps for , allowing them to rest. long because their × \sim t to survive. lemurs must eat a heart rate drops bodies change significantly insides can adapt

When people hear about hibernation, they may think the concept applies only to some bears.				
However, other animals	s hibernate as well, including the fat-tailed dwarf lem	ur of Madagascar.		
This animal sleeps for	✓ during the winter. Lemu	rs can hibernate this		
long because their	✓, allowing them to rest.		~	
lemurs must eat a grea	at amount of food and store fat to survive.			
		As they get ready		

As they get ready
Before they do this
Prior to hibernating

SAMPLE ITEM KEYS

Item	Standard/ Element/ Genre	DOK Level	Correct Answer	Explanation
8	ELAGSE6RI9 Informational/ Explanatory	2	В	The correct answer is choice (B) that GMO crops can be engineered to survive droughts. Both authors mention this as a benefit of GMOs. Choice (A) is mentioned only in the first passage. Choices (C) and (D) show misinterpretations of information from the second passage.
9	ELAGSE6RI8 Informational/ Explanatory	2	A	The correct answer is choice (A) by stating that GMOs require increasing amounts of pesticides. This is correct as the author explains how GMO superbugs become resistant to pesticides, so more pesticides are required. Choices (B), (C), and (D) are misinterpretations of information from the passage.
10	ELAGSE6RI6	3	N/A	See scoring rubric and sample responses on page 69.
	Informational/ Explanatory			
11	ELAGSE6W1, ELAGSE6L1, ELAGSE6L2	4	N/A	See scoring rubric beginning on page 93 and sample response on page 70.
12	ELAGSE6RI5 Informational/ Explanatory	3	C/D	The correct answer is choice (C) It reveals why it can be exciting and rewarding to solve the mystery of a drift bottle and choice (D) As of 2019, Illman holds the record for the oldest message in a bottle ever found. This section of the text focuses on a current, specific example of one person who found a drift bottle. For Illman, solving the mystery was exciting, and she was rewarded by the news that she is responsible for finding the oldest message in a bottle of all time. The correct answer choice for Part B of the item is a detail that best supports the answer to Part A. In Part A, choice (A) is incorrect because the section does not go into detail about how the paper became damaged, it just indicates that the paper in the bottle was difficult to read. Choice (B) is incorrect because the section does not talk about how much money the bottles are worth. Choice (D) is incorrect options in Part B support incorrect answer options in Part A.

Item	Standard/ Element/ Genre	DOK Level	Correct Answer	Explanation
13	ELAGSE6L4a Informational/ Explanatory	2	С	The correct answer is choice (C) to recognize and understand. In this context, Illman and her husband are trying to understand the handwriting that is in German and partially worn off the paper. Choices (A), (B), and (D) are incorrect because the definitions do not define the word "decode" and are not supported by this context.
14	ELAGSE6RI3 Informational/ Explanatory	2	В	The correct answer is choice (B) Carmack organized a bottle project that provides useful information to scientists about climate and pollution. The passage indicates that Carmack had planned to use the bottles to study ocean currents, but his research turned out to be more useful because of the data he has received on ice melting and oil spills. Choice (A) is incorrect because, although the passage mentions that people used a ship captain's logbook to help solve a bottle mystery, the logbooks are not related to Carmack's efforts. Choice (C) is incorrect because, although drift bottles are sealed in a specific way using wax, Carmack did not develop this method. Choice (D) is incorrect because, although Carmack did encourage people to contact him if they found a bottle, this is not the significance of his work.
15	ELAGSE6W3	4	N/A	See scoring rubric beginning on page 89 and sample responses on page 71.
16	ELAGSE6W1d	2	С	The correct answer is choice (C) Change sentence 3 to "Not all students are fully aware of the range of activities they can join." This sentence would maintain the formal tone present in the rest of the letter. Choice (A) is incorrect because it is less cogent than the original and the original did not need more formal language. Choice (B) is incorrect because it is more vague than the sentence it is replacing and is no more formal. Choice (D) is incorrect because it rephrases the sentence and is repetitive.
17	ELAGSE6W1e	2	В	The correct answer is choice (B) I hope that you will seriously consider this request and reach out to the community for more input. This choice finishes the letter in a formal style, and it hits the right note of encouragement. Choice (A) is incorrect because it is both vague and overstates the implied stakes. Choice (C) is incorrect because ending with an indirect question does not suit the purpose of a conclusion. Choice (D) is incorrect because it is presumptuous and unwarranted.

Item	Standard/ Element/ Genre	DOK Level	Correct Answer	Explanation
18	ELAGSE6W2e	2	A	The correct answer is choice (A) Some of his early sketches led experts to think da Vinci was the first person to imagine a vehicle that could transport people. This sentence BEST maintains the formal style of the paragraph while conveying the information intended in the original sentence. Choice (B) is incorrect because "long, long time ago" and "some kind of vehicle" do not maintain the formal style. Choice (C) is incorrect because "mega-famous" and "to get wherever they wanted to go" do not maintain the formal style. Choice (D) is incorrect because the combinations of "you can tell," "gut feeling," and "to get around" do not maintain the formal style in the paragraph.
19	ELAGSE6W3b	2	С	The correct answer is choice (C) "I am so proud of how hard you all have worked to prepare for tonight. Let's have a great show!" Mr. Collins said with a smile. This is the correct answer because this is the only dialogue that provides words of encouragement. Choices (A) and (D) are incorrect because there are no words of encouragement in the dialogue. Choice (B) is incorrect because even though Mr. Collins says he is "glad you are all here," the focus of the dialogue is on meeting again tomorrow, not on the performance they are about to give.
20	ELAGSE6W4	3	D	The correct answer is choice (D) Remove sentence 6 to eliminate irrelevant information. The focus of the paragraph is on the sunflower sea star. Mentioning other types of invertebrates is not relevant to the topic. Choice (A) is incorrect because moving the introduction to the end of the paragraph will not improve the paragraph. Choice (B) is incorrect because information about jellyfish is irrelevant to the paragraph since its focus is on the sunflower sea star. Choice (C) is incorrect because these sentences do not contain relevant information that can be combined.
21	ELAGSE6W7	2	В	The correct answer is choice (B) What were some highlights of the 1936 Olympics? This inquiry will yield moderately broad results. Choices (A), (C), and (D) are incorrect because these inquiries will yield extremely limited results.
22	ELAGSE6W1c	2	N/A	See scoring rubric and exemplar response on page 72.
23	ELAGSE6W4	3	N/A	See scoring rubric and exemplar response on page 73.

EXAMPLE SCORING RUBRICS AND EXEMPLAR RESPONSES

Item 10

Scoring Rubric

Points	Description
2	 The exemplar shows a full-credit response. It achieves the following: Gives sufficient evidence of the ability to determine each author's point of view and explain how it is conveyed in the texts Includes specific examples/details that make clear reference to the texts Adequately shows the ability to explain how the authors' viewpoints are different with clearly relevant information based on the texts
1	 The exemplar shows a 1-point response. It achieves the following: Gives limited evidence of the ability to determine each author's point of view and explain how it is conveyed in the texts Includes vague/limited examples/details that make reference to the texts Explains how the authors' viewpoints are different with vague/limited information based on the texts
0	The exemplar shows a response that would earn no credit. It achieves the following:Gives no evidence of the ability to determine each author's point of view and explain how it is conveyed in the texts

Exemplar Response

Points Awarded	Sample Response
2	The author of "GMOs Can Feed the World" thinks that GMOs offer a lot of solutions. For instance, GMOs can help plants be tougher and survive droughts. GMO foods can be "bred to last longer," too, and cause less waste. The author of "Are GMOs Really Safe?" is worried that GMOs can affect humans in negative ways, like causing allergies. The author is also worried that GMOs might not be as healthy and "have a lower nutritional value" than non-GMO foods.
1	The two authors disagree because the author of "GMOs Can Feed the World" thinks GMOs are a good idea and the author of "Are GMOs Really Safe?" thinks GMOs are a bad idea.
0	The authors have different viewpoints about GMOs.

The following is an example of a seven-point response. See the seven-point, two-trait rubric for a text-based argumentative response on pages 93 and 94 to see why this example would earn the maximum number of points.

GMOs can have a huge impact on the world, and therefore, their growth should be encouraged. Some people are concerned about harmful side effects from GMOs, but according to the first article, "Many studies have been done on GMOs, and there has never been any proof linking GMOs to health risks." If not one single link has been found, it is fair to conclude, at least for the time being, that GMOs must be safe.

Although the second article points out that skeptics worry about the nutritional value of GMOs, there is again no evidence to support this. In fact, some scientists claim that the reverse is actually true—that GMOs are more nutritious than commercial crops.

Finally, in the past, many crops have been destroyed by diseases, insects, and droughts. Through the process of genetic modification, scientists can breed crops ". . . to withstand these forces. The result is an abundance of food that will feed the world." That promise is too exciting to ignore.

Scientists will probably continue to argue the benefits of GMOs moving forward. It is clear that the long-term effects of GMOs are still unknown. However, people need to give GMOs a chance to make a positive impact on our food supply.

To view the four-point holistic rubric for a text-based narrative response, see pages 89 and 90.

Points Awarded	Sample Response
4	Today, me and my friends Stephanie and George went to the beach near Stephanie's house. While we were walking in the hot sand, we found a really old bottle. The bottle was green like an emerald and sparkled in the sun. "Look, there's a paper in there, but the bottle's sealed with wax, so we'll need to find a way to open it" Stephanie said enthusiastically. We were all really excited but didn't want to break the gorgeous bottle. Using a sea shell, we were able to scrape off enough of the wax to get the paper out. "What does it say" George asked. Unrolling the postcard, I saw the ink was very faded but I could still read some of it. "I can't read much, but it looks like Bidder and something about a Marine Biological thing in England" I told them. "Well we've got to find out where it came from" shouted Stephanie. "Maybe if we look it up on the internet we'll be able to figure it out" said George. And so, when we were done swimming at the beach, we all went back to Stephanie's house to search online about the bottle. After a couple minutes of searching, we found the website. "It says George Bidder threw a bunch of bottles in the ocean over a hundred years ago. He worked at the Marine Biological Association of England and asked people to mail back the postcard when they find the bottles" I read. "Well that's it, that's what we found. We should really mail this postcard in" said George happily. And so we wrote on the postcard where we found the bottle and a few weeks later we got a letter back. The envelope also contained a bunch of old-timey English shillings! The shillings were cool but we don't know where we can spend them.
3	 While Matt and Carrie were walking on the beach they saw a neat old bottle. When they peeled off the wax seal and looked inside they saw a piece of paper that had a strange message. The message was from a sailor long ago who got lost at sea. "We should find out who this sailor was and what happened to him" Carrie said. So they went to the library. As they searched through dusty, old books they came across one about shipwrecks and lost ships in the ocean. "Look at this one" Carrie exclaimed. The details in the story were very close to what was written on the message in the bottle. "You're right, looks like our sailor was called Barnacus, and he sailed around the Bahamas. Eventually they found his shipwreck against some coral offshore. He must have thrown the bottle overboard before he crashed" Matt said. "That's so neat," said Carrie, "maybe we can throw a bottle overboard next time we're on a boat and tell people our story."
2	I went out fishing this morning with my best frends. When we out far away from the shore we started fishing and my fishing net caught a bottle so we realed it in. It was old and dirty but it made me happey to see something so cool. Then we opened it and there was a note in it. It said it was from a shiprecked sailor on a desserted island. We looked for the island on the map and saw that it was realy far away. Its amazing to think that the bottle traveled so far but i guess it took a long time.
1	A boy found an old bottle on the beach and looks inside and sees a message inside it. it was very old and the boy wanted to know where it came from and how it got there.
0	she gets a bottle

Exemplar Response

Points	Description
1	The student correctly selects both drop-down menu options.
0	The student does not correctly select both drop-down menu options.

Scoring Rubric

Exemplar Response

The correct response is shown below.

Cooking is an important life skill that everyone needs to learn to be independent. Therefore \checkmark , schools should require that students take a basic cooking class. The instructor of the cooking class would teach students how to be safe while working in the kitchen. In addition \checkmark , students would learn about nutrition and healthy eating habits.

In the first drop-down menu, the correct response is "Therefore" because the relationship between the first two sentences is one of cause and effect; requiring students to take a cooking class would result in the effect of students becoming independent. In the second drop-down menu, the correct response is "In addition" because this transition phrase signals an addition of material that agrees with the preceding material. In this case, the author has stated one topic the cooking instructor would teach, and with the use of "in addition," the author transitions to providing other examples of topics the instructor would teach.

PointsDescription2The student correctly selects all three drop-down menu options.1The student correctly selects two drop-down menu options.0The student does not correctly select at least two drop-down menu options.

Scoring Rubric

Exemplar Response

The correct response is shown below.

When people hear about hibernation, they may think the concept applies only to some bears. However, other animals hibernate as well, including the fat-tailed dwarf lemur of Madagascar. This animal sleeps for up to seven months v during the winter. Lemurs can hibernate this long because their heart rate drops v, allowing them to rest. Prior to hibernating v, lemurs must eat a great amount of food and store fat to survive.

In the first drop-down menu, the correct response is "up to seven months"; the correct response in the second drop-down menu is "heart rate drops"; and the correct response in the third drop-down menu is "Prior to hibernating." These responses are correct because they provide the most content-specific details to develop the topic. The addition of specific content makes the writing clearer.

Unit 4: Language

CONTENT DESCRIPTION

The language portion of the English Language Arts test focuses on the conventions of Standard English, including grammar and usage and the proper use of capitalization, punctuation, and spelling.

Conventions of Standard English

- Show a command of the conventions of Standard English grammar and usage when writing.
- Show a command of the conventions of Standard English capitalization, punctuation (e.g., commas, parentheses, dashes), and spelling when writing.
- Understand pronoun types and match pronouns in number and person to the appropriate noun.

Knowledge of Language

- Express yourself clearly and in an interesting way.
- Choose your words carefully so readers understand what you are writing.
- Vary sentence patterns for meaning, reader interest, and style.
- Avoid use of wordy explanations, as well as overuse of common words (e.g., any, all, always, never, very).

Vocabulary Acquisition and Use

- Use different strategies (e.g., context, affixes, roots) to help you determine the meaning of unknown or multiple-meaning words.
- Show an understanding of figurative language (i.e., similes, metaphors, personification, hyperbole, idioms, onomatopoeia, alliteration, and assonance) and interpret figures of speech in context.
- Use the relationships between particular words (e.g., cause/effect, part/whole, item/category) to better understand each of the words.
- Think about the connotations of words with similar definitions.
- Use reference materials to determine or clarify a specific word's precise meaning or its part of speech.

KEY TERMS

Grammar: Grammar refers to the set of rules for language. (L1)

Usage: Using the correct word when there is a choice is known as correct usage (e.g., *to, too,* and *two*). (L1)

Pronoun: A pronoun is a part of speech that is used instead of a noun when the meaning of the noun is already understood. *I, we, he, she, they,* and *it* are all pronouns. (L1a, L1b, L1c, L1d)

- **Subjective/nominative pronoun:** Pronouns that act as the subject of a sentence are known as subjective/nominative pronouns. Examples are *I*, *we*, *he*, *she*, and *they*. In the sentence *They went to the beach, they* is the subject in the subject-verb-object structure. (L1a)
- **Objective pronoun:** Pronouns that act as the object of a sentence are known as objective pronouns. Examples are *me*, *us*, *him*, *her*, and *them*. In the sentence *He gave it to them*, *them* is the object in the subject-verb-object structure. (L1a)
- **Possessive pronoun:** Possessive pronouns are pronouns that show possession or ownership. Examples of possessive pronouns are *mine*, *his*, *hers*, *ours*, and *theirs*. For example, *Those cookies are mine*. (L1a)
- **Intensive pronoun:** An intensive pronoun is a pronoun that uses *-self* to emphasize the preceding noun. For example, *The boy felt proud of himself*. The intensive pronoun is *himself*, which refers to the noun *boy*. (L1b)
- **Indefinite pronoun:** Indefinite pronouns are pronouns that represent an object that may have already been identified or does not need explicit identification. Examples are *another*, *any*, *both*, *each*, *neither*, *none*, and *some*. (L1d)

Antecedent: An antecedent is a word or words that a pronoun refers to. In the sentence *When you see my mom, tell her I'll be late,* the pronoun in the sentence is *her* and the antecedent is *mom*. An **ambiguous antecedent** is an unclear antecedent. *She is happy about her win* contains ambiguous pronoun antecedents. The sentence does not clarify to whom *She* or *her* is referring. (L1d)

Punctuation: Punctuation refers to writing marks that help to separate and clarify ideas. Examples of punctuation are the period, comma, colon, dash, parentheses, exclamation mark, and question mark. (L2)

Nonrestrictive/parenthetical elements: Modifiers in a sentence that are not essential to the meaning of the sentence are known as nonrestrictive/parenthetical elements. A modifier is a word or a group of words that describes or limits other words, phrases, and clauses. Nonrestrictive or parenthetical elements can be set off from the rest of the sentence by commas, parentheses, and dashes. (L2a)

- **Commas:** Commas are used most often to separate nonessential information from the rest of the sentence. An example is *Mrs. Brown, who lives on Cherry Lane, takes her dog for a walk every morning.* (L2a)
- **Parentheses:** Parentheses are used to set off a modifier that clarifies or makes a comment about something in the sentence but seems out of place in the sentence. An example is *Louisa May Alcott* (1832–1888) was an American novelist and poet. (L2a)
- **Dashes:** Dashes are used to set off something that the writer wants to draw a lot of attention to, often an interruption to the sentence. Dashes are considered the least formal of these three types of punctuation. An example is *Mrs. Brown's poodle—an adorable little dog—brings in the newspaper from the driveway.* (L2a)

Style: Style refers to the particular form or way a writer chooses to write. There are many different writing styles. It is important to maintain consistent style throughout a piece of writing. (L3a, L3b)

Tone: Tone is the attitude of an author about a subject or an audience. The author chooses words and language to create a tone and express a viewpoint in a text. (L3b)

Context: Context refers to words and phrases that surround another word and help to explain its meaning. Sometimes a word cannot be understood without the context of the words and phrases around it. For example, the word *leaves* is a **multiple-meaning word** because it could mean several things. When a full sentence is included, such as *The leaves of the tree were swaying in the wind* or *She needs to remember to grab her backpack before she leaves for school*, the meaning is clear. (L4, L4a)

Context clues: Context clues are the words, facts, or ideas in a text that explain a difficult or unusual word. For example, *dehydrated* is a difficult word. However, you can use clues included in the context of a piece of writing to figure out the meaning of *dehydrated*. *After running in gym class, I was dehydrated*. *I felt much better after drinking two glasses of water*. Using the context clues in the sentences, it is clear the meaning of *dehydrated* is *in need of water*. (L4a)

Root word: The root word is also known as the base word. Knowing the meaning of the root word can help a reader determine the meaning of other forms of the word. For example, if you know that the root word *school* is a place that provides knowledge, you may be able to guess that a *scholar* is someone who is seeking knowledge. (L4b)

Affix: An affix is letters that are added to a root word that change its meaning. For example, when the prefix *dis*- is added to the word *interest*, the word *disinterest* means the opposite of the root word *interest*. (L4b)

Dictionary: A dictionary is a reference book that provides the **precise**, or exact, meanings of words and phrases. (L4c)

Glossary: A glossary is an alphabetical list of words and phrases and their meanings. A glossary is often found at the end of a text. (L4c)

Figurative language: To understand figurative language, you need to distinguish between literal and figurative meanings of words and phrases. **Literal** refers to the actual meaning of a word or phrase. For example, if someone tells you to *open the door*, you can open a physical door. If someone tells you to *open the door*, you can open a physical door. If someone tells you to *open the door to your heart*, you are not expected to find a door in your chest. Instead, you open up your feelings and emotions. (L5)

The following are examples of figurative language:

- **Personification:** When a writer describes an object as if it were a person, he or she is using personification; for example, *The trees sighed in the afternoon breeze*. The trees cannot really sigh but seemed to as they moved gently in the breeze. (L5, L5a)
- Simile: A simile is a comparison using *like* or *as*; for example, *She is as pretty as a picture*. (L5)
- **Metaphor:** A metaphor is a direct comparison that states one thing is another. It isn't meant to be literal, but descriptive. For example, if someone describes recess by saying that *it was a zoo*, he or she is using a metaphor. Recess was chaotic, with lots of different people running around; it was not literally a zoo. (L5)
- **Hyperbole:** Hyperbole is exaggeration beyond belief. *My father can lift two tons* is an example of hyperbole. (L5)

- **Idiom:** Idioms are quirky sayings and expressions specific to a language. For example, "Solving that puzzle was *a piece of cake*" means that the puzzle was easy, not that it was something to be eaten. If a saying seems unfamiliar or is not understood, it may be an idiom that needs to be researched. (L5)
- **Onomatopoeia:** Onomatopoeia is a word that imitates the natural sound of something. Examples are *meow, pop, fizz,* and *clop.* (L5)
- Alliteration: Alliteration is the use of the same sound to start several words in a row; for example, *The beautiful butterfly blew by the bay*. (L5)
- **Assonance:** Assonance is the use of words that have repetition of similar vowel sounds but are not rhyming words. Examples are *cake* and *lane* or *eat* and *eel*. (L5)
- **Figure of speech:** A figure of speech is a word or phrase that has a meaning beyond the literal meaning of the word. Figures of speech are often used to emphasize an image, situation, or emotion for greater effect. The most common figures of speech are personification, simile, metaphor, hyperbole, idiom, onomatopoeia, and alliteration. (L5a)

Connotative meaning: A meaning beyond the explicit meaning of a word is known as a connotative meaning. For example, the word *childlike* connotes innocence. Connotations are meanings inferred from certain words. (L5c)

Denotative meaning: The explicit meaning of a word is the denotative meaning. For example, *helpful* has only one meaning and denotation, which is to be of service or assistance. (L5c)

Important Tips

- To study for this part of the EOG assessment, concentrate on the kinds of errors you typically make in your own writing. Then review grammar rules for those specific kinds of errors. Use books or free online resources to find practice items that you can try. You can work with a partner and question each other on grammar rules or try editing sentences together. Focus your review time on strengthening the areas or skills that need to be reviewed the most.
- When you are faced with an unknown word, go back to the passage. Start reading two sentences before the word appears, and continue reading for two sentences afterward. If that doesn't give you enough clues, look elsewhere in the passage. By reading the context in which the word appears, you may be able to make an educated guess.

SAMPLE ITEMS

Item 24

Selected-Response

Which sentence does NOT have an error in pronoun use?

- A. Caleb is six years older than I.
- **B.** Our aunt visited Kiana and I yesterday.
- C. Who did Amelia share her lunch with today?
- D. Did Damian or me score the highest grades in class?

Item 25

Selected-Response

What is the BEST way to combine the sentences to make the relationship between the ideas clear?

Eve went to a hockey game tonight. It was her first hockey game. She went with her parents. She was impressed by the speed of the players. She was also impressed by the skill of the players.

- **A.** Along with her parents, Eve went to her first hockey game where the speed of the players and their skill impressed her.
- **B.** The speed and skill of the players impressed Eve when she attended her first hockey game tonight along with her parents.
- **C.** Because she had never seen a hockey game before, Eve was impressed by the speed and skill of the players, and so were her parents.
- **D.** Having never seen a hockey game until tonight with her parents, Eve was impressed by the speed of the players and the skill of the players.

Selected-Response

Which sentence could be added to the end of the paragraph to BEST maintain a consistent style?

Like humans, animals need to visit their doctors regularly. Veterinarians provide regular shots that keep pets healthy. Veterinarians also check pets' teeth, just like dentists do, to make sure they have no dangerous plaque. Veterinarians can even provide grooming services to keep your pets' nails at a comfortable length.

- **A.** I always take my pet to the vet to make sure it is healthy.
- **B.** If you take your pet to the vet, be ready to have an active, happy pet!
- **C.** With regular visits to the veterinarian, pets can enjoy long and healthy lives.
- **D.** Provided one visits with veterinarians quite regularly, pets will maintain their health.

Item 27

Selected-Response

Which sentence needs commas to set off parenthetical information?

- **A.** Jon Molinar who attended our middle school is a professional hockey player.
- **B.** I am the student who works in the office before school and during fifth period.
- **C.** The person who wrote the poem for the yearbook is my friend Miguel Weaver.
- **D.** We need a volunteer who is willing to create posters advertising the spelling bee.

Selected-Response

Read the paragraph.

¹In the late 1800s, when he was traveling by train, the artist Claude Monet saw the town of Giverny, France. ²He decided to try to live there. ³He eventually bought a house, and he spent years growing colorful gardens, which inspired his paintings. ⁴He also worked on creating a beautiful pond filled with waterlilies. ⁵I often painted very large landscapes of what I saw outdoors. ⁶Many of Monet's works are on display in museums around the world.

Which sentence contains an incorrect pronoun?

- A. sentence 2
- B. sentence 3
- **C.** sentence 4
- D. sentence 5

Item 29

Selected-Response

Read the sentence.

I would of answered the phone if I had heard it ringing.

Which revision corrects the error in this sentence?

- A. I would have answered the phone if I had heard it ringing.
- **B.** Hearing it ringing, I would of answered the phone.
- C. I would of answered the phone if I had been hearing it ringing.
- D. If I had heard it ringing, I'd of answered the phone.

Item 30

Selected-Response

Which sentence uses the underlined pronoun correctly?

- A. Has Max itself looked at the directions to the party?
- **B.** It was clear that the council members herself supported the plan.
- C. Have you seen the homework assignment ourselves?
- D. It might be fun for the kids to make the cupcakes themselves.

Drop-Down Technology-Enhanced

Read the paragraph from a student's draft of a personal essay. Choose the phrase from each drop-down menu that BEST maintains the tone of the paragraph.					
My neighbor, Mrs. Allen, is the person I admire most. Whenever one of the kids on our street scrapes a knee or twists an ankle while playing, Mrs. Allen Not only that, but Mrs. Allen always greets everyone with a bright, warm smile. She on her front porch for anyone in need. Often, kids will stop by to share news about their school days and parents will visit to seek her thoughtful advice. Someday, I hope to become a kind neighbor who people can count on just like Mrs. Allen.					

Use a mouse, touchpad, or touchscreen to click the arrow beside each of the two blank boxes. When you click the arrow, a drop-down menu will appear, showing you all the possible options for that blank. Each drop-down menu with its options is shown below.

Read the paragraph from a student's draft of a personal essay. Choose the phrase from each drop-down menu that BEST maintains the tone of the paragraph.

My neighbor, Mrs. Allen, is the person I admire most. Whenever one of the kids on our street scrapes a knee or twists

n.

an ankle while playing, Mrs. Allen everyone with a bright, warm smile will stop by to share news about the become a kind neighbor who pe

	•	ł
provides medical assistance		
shows tender care		
does what is right		

 Not only that, but Mrs. Allen always greets
 on her front porch for anyone in need. Often, kids t to seek her thoughtful advice. Someday, I hope

My neighbor, Mrs. Allen, is the person I ad an ankle while playing, Mrs. Allen		e of the kids on our street scrapes a knee or twists . Not only that, but Mrs. Allen always greets
everyone with a bright, warm smile. She		on her front porch for anyone in need. Often, kids
will stop by to share news about their sch		to seek her thoughtful advice. Someday, I hope
to become a kind neighbor who people c	offers a listening ear	
	can be found	
	sits in her rocking chair	

Drop-Down Technology-Enhanced

Read the paragraph. Choose the correct pronoun from each drop-down menu to complete the paragraph.
My twin brother and v work at a nearby swimming pool teaching swim lessons to younger children. v are beginning swimmers, which makes v job exciting. The swimmers like it when the coaches play games and give swimming demonstrations. At the end of the summer, the swimmers gave a "favorite coach" award to my brother and v.

Use a mouse, touchpad, or touchscreen to click the arrow beside each of the four blank boxes. When you click the arrow, a drop-down menu will appear, showing you all the possible options for that blank. Each drop-down menu with its options is shown below.

My twin brother and	~	work at a	nearby s	wimming pool teaching swim lessons to younger children.	~
are beginning swimn	1	ch makes	~	job exciting. The swimmers like it when the coaches play	
give swimming demo	1	ns. At the e		summer, the swimmers gave a "favorite coach" award to i	Them
and 🔽 .	me		our		They
		, 	his		
me					

SAMPLE ITEM KEYS

Item	Standard/ Element/ Genre	DOK Level	Correct Answer	Explanation
24	ELAGSE6L1a	2	A	The correct answer is choice (A) Caleb is six years older than I. This sentence has no errors in pronoun use. It requires the subjective pronoun <i>I</i> . Choice (B) is incorrect because it has an error in pronoun use. It needs the objective pronoun <i>me</i> instead of <i>I</i> because the pronoun is the direct object of the verb <i>visited</i> . Choice (C) is incorrect because it has an error in pronoun use. It needs the objective pronoun <i>whom</i> instead of <i>who</i> because the pronoun is the object of the preposition <i>with</i> . Choice (D) is incorrect because it has an error in pronoun use. It needs the subjective pronoun <i>I</i> because it is part of the sentence's subject.
25	ELAGSE6L3a	3	В	The correct answer is choice (B) The speed and skill of the players impressed Eve when she attended her first hockey game tonight along with her parents. This sentence preserves the meaning of the original sentences and best clarifies the relationship between the ideas. Choice (A) is incorrect because "the speed of the players and their skill" is awkward; "the speed and skill of the players" would be a better combination. Choice (C) is incorrect because it indicates a false cause/effect relationship; we do not know if Eve was impressed <i>because</i> this was her first hockey game. Choice (D) is incorrect because "the speed of the players and the skill of the players" is unnecessarily and awkwardly repetitive.
26	ELAGSE6L3b	3	С	The correct answer is choice (C) With regular visits to the veterinarian, pets can enjoy long and healthy lives. This moderately formal, but not stiff, style is most consistent with the rest of the paragraph. Choices (A) and (B) are incorrect because they break the style with pronouns that are in the wrong voice and sound too informal (<i>I</i> and <i>you</i>). Choice (D) is incorrect because it is overly formal and stiff due to the use of the indefinite pronoun <i>one</i> instead of a personal pronoun, and it has a dramatic change in tone.
27	ELAGSE6L2a	2	A	The correct answer is choice (A) Jon Molinar who attended our middle school is a professional hockey player. The phrase "who attended our middle school" is parenthetical and must be set off with commas. Choices (B), (C), and (D) all have phrases that begin with "who," but these phrases are not parenthetical.

Item	Standard/ Element/ Genre	DOK Level	Correct Answer	Explanation
28	ELAGSE6L1c	2	D	The correct answer is choice (D) sentence 5. This sentence shifts to a first-person pronoun when the rest of the paragraph shows a need for a third-person pronoun. Choices (A), (B), and (C) are all incorrect because they maintain a third-person pronoun.
29	ELAGSE6L1e	2	A	The correct answer is choice (A) I would have answered the phone if I had heard it ringing. The words <i>I would</i> <i>have</i> correct the common mistake of using <i>of</i> in place of <i>have</i> within the sentence. Choices (B), (C), and (D) are all incorrect as they contain grammatical errors and do not correct the errors in the sentence.
30	ELAGSE6L1b	1	D	The correct answer is choice (D) It might be fun for the kids to make the cupcakes themselves. <i>Themselves</i> is the intensive pronoun that agrees with the plural <i>kids</i> . Choices (A), (B), and (C) are incorrect because they do not agree in gender, number, or both.
31	ELAGSE6L3b	2	N/A	See scoring rubric and exemplar response on page 85.
32	ELAGSE6L1a	2	N/A	See scoring rubric and exemplar response on page 86.

EXAMPLE SCORING RUBRICS AND EXEMPLAR RESPONSES

Item 31

Scoring Rubric

Points Description					
1 The student correctly selects both drop-down menu options.					
	0	0 The student does not correctly select both drop-down menu options.			

Exemplar Response

The correct response is shown below.

My neighbor, Mrs. Allen, is the person I admire most. Whenever one of the kids on our street scrapes a knee or twists an ankle while playing, Mrs. Allen shows tender care everyone with a bright, warm smile. She offers a listening ear will stop by to share news about their school days and parents will visit to seek her thoughtful advice. Someday, I hope to become a kind neighbor who people can count on just like Mrs. Allen.

In the first drop-down menu, the correct response is "shows tender care" because this phrase best maintains the admiring, sentimental tone of the paragraph, which presents Mrs. Allen as a kind person. In the second drop-down menu, the correct response is "offers a listening ear" because this phrase best maintains the overall tone of the paragraph, which presents Mrs. Allen as a warm and giving person.

PointsDescription2The student correctly selects all four drop-down menu options.1The student correctly selects two or three drop-down menu options.0The student does not correctly select at least two drop-down menu options.

Scoring Rubric

Exemplar Response

The correct response is shown below.

My twin brother and $[1 \lor]$ work at a nearby swimming pool teaching swim lessons to younger children. They \lor are beginning swimmers, which makes $[our \lor]$ job exciting. The swimmers like it when the coaches play games and give swimming demonstrations. At the end of the summer, the swimmers gave a "favorite coach" award to my brother and $[me \lor]$.

In the first drop-down menu, the correct response is "I" because the pronoun is part of the subject of the sentence and requires the nominative case. In the second drop-down menu, the correct response is "They" because the pronoun is the subject of the sentence and requires the nominative case. In the third drop-down menu, the correct response is "our" because the context calls for a plural possessive pronoun. In the fourth drop-down menu, the correct response is "me" because the pronoun is the object of a preposition and requires the objective singular case.

ACTIVITY

The following activity develops skills in Unit 4: Language.

Standards: ELAGSE6L1, ELAGSE6L2, ELAGSE6L3, ELAGSE6L4, ELAGSE6L5, ELAGSE6L6

Grammar Go-Round

Work with your friends or family.

- Use a copy of the English Language Arts language standards. The standards can be found here: https://www.georgiastandards.org/Georgia-Standards/Pages/ELA.aspx.
- Write three practice questions for each standard.

Once you have completed your questions, take turns passing your questions to another person. If the other person answers a question incorrectly, the first person is responsible for explaining why the answer is wrong.

Each person gets two points for a correct answer, and he or she loses one point for an incorrect answer. The person with the most points wins the game.

Use the samples below as a model to help write your questions.

Standard	Sample Question
ELAGSE6L1a Ensure that pronouns are in the proper case (subjective, objective, possessive).	Is this sentence written correctly? If not, fix it. My younger sister, Grace, is better at math than me.
ELAGSE6L2a Use punctuation (commas, parentheses, dashes) to set off nonrestrictive/parenthetical elements.	Add commas to this sentence. The tour bus stopped at the White House the National Gallery of Art and the National Air and Space Museum.

WRITING RUBRICS

Grade 6 items that are not machine-scored—i.e., constructed-response, extended constructed-response, and extended writing-response items—are manually scored using either a holistic rubric or a two-trait rubric.

Four-Point Holistic Rubric

Genre: Narrative

A holistic rubric evaluates one major trait, which is ideas. On the Georgia Milestones EOG assessment, a holistic rubric is scored from zero to four. Each point value represents a qualitative description of the student's work. To score an item on a holistic rubric, the scorer need only choose the criteria and associated point value that best represents the student's work. Increasing point values represent a greater understanding of the content and, thus, a higher score.

Seven-Point, Two-Trait Rubric

Genre: Argumentative or Informational/Explanatory

A two-trait rubric, on the other hand, evaluates two major traits, which are conventions and ideas. On the Georgia Milestones EOG assessment, a two-trait rubric contains two scales, one for each trait, ranging from zero to four on one scale (ideas) and zero to three on the other (conventions). A score is given for each of the two traits, for a total of seven possible points for the item. To score an item on a two-trait rubric, a scorer must choose for each trait the criteria and associated point value that best represents the student's work. The two scores are added together. Increasing point values represent a greater understanding of the content and, thus, a higher score.

On the following pages are the rubrics that will be used to evaluate writing on the Georgia Milestones Grade 6 English Language Arts EOG assessment.

Four-Point Holistic Rubric

Genre: Narrative

Writing Trait	Points	Criteria
		The student's response is a well-developed narrative that fully develops a real or imagined experience based on text as a stimulus.
This trait examines the writer's	4	 Effectively establishes a situation and introduces a narrator and/or characters Organizes an event sequence that unfolds naturally Effectively uses narrative techniques, such as dialogue, description, and pacing, to develop rich, interesting experiences, events, and/or characters Uses a variety of words and phrases consistently to convey the sequence of events and signal shifts from one time frame or setting to another Uses precise words, phrases, and sensory language consistently to convey experiences and events Provides a conclusion that follows from the narrated experiences or events Integrates ideas and details from source material effectively Has very few or no errors in usage and/or conventions that interfere with meaning*
ability to effectively develop real or imagined experiences or events using effective techniques, descriptive details, and clear event sequences based on a	3	 The student's response is a complete narrative that develops a real or imagined experience based on text as a stimulus. Establishes a situation and introduces one or more characters Organizes events in a clear, logical order Uses narrative techniques, such as dialogue, description, and pacing, to develop experiences, events, and/or characters Uses words and/or phrases to indicate sequence of events and signal shifts from one time frame or setting to another Uses words, phrases, and details to convey experiences and events Provides an appropriate conclusion Integrates some ideas and/or details from source material Has a few minor errors in usage and/or conventions that interfere with meaning*
text that has been read.	2	 The student's response is an incomplete or oversimplified narrative based on text as a stimulus. Introduces a vague situation and at least one character Organizes events in a sequence but with some gaps or ambiguity Attempts to use a narrative technique, such as dialogue, description, and pacing, to develop experiences, events, and/or characters Uses occasional signal words inconsistently to indicate sequence of events and signal shifts from one time frame or setting to another Uses some words or phrases inconsistently to convey experiences and events Provides a weak or ambiguous conclusion Attempts to integrate ideas or details from source material Has frequent errors in usage and conventions that sometimes interfere with meaning*

Four-Point Holistic Rubric

Genre: Narrative (continued)

Writing Trait	Points	Criteria
This trait examines the writer's ability to effectively develop real or imagined experiences or events using effective techniques, descriptive	1	 The student's response provides evidence of an attempt to write a narrative based on text as a stimulus. Response is a summary of the story Provides a weak or minimal introduction of a situation or a character May be too brief to demonstrate a complete sequence of events Shows little or no attempt to use dialogue, description, and pacing to develop experiences, events, and/or characters Uses words that are inappropriate, overly simple, or unclear Provides few, if any, words that convey experiences, or events, or signal shifts from one time frame or setting to another Provides a minimal or no conclusion May use few, if any, ideas or details from source material Has frequent major errors in usage and conventions that interfere with meaning*
details, and clear event sequences based on a text that has been read.	0	 The student will receive a condition code for various reasons: Blank Copied Too Limited to Score/Illegible/Incomprehensible Non-English/Foreign Language Off Topic/Off Task/Offensive

*Students are responsible for language conventions learned in their current grade as well as in prior grades. Refer to the language skills for each grade to determine the grade-level expectations for grammar, syntax, capitalization, punctuation, and spelling. Also refer to the "Language Progressive Skills, by Grade" chart in the Appendix for those standards that need continued attention beyond the grade in which they were introduced.

Trait 1 for Informational/Explanatory Genre

Writing Trait	Points	Criteria
Idea Development, Organization, and Coherence This trait examines the	4	 The student's response is a well-developed informative/explanatory text that examines a topic in depth and conveys ideas and information clearly based on text as a stimulus. Effectively introduces a topic Effectively develops a topic with multiple, relevant facts, definitions, concrete details, quotations, or other information and examples related to the topic Effectively organizes ideas, concepts, and information using various strategies such as definition, classification, comparison/contrast, and cause/effect Effectively uses transitions to connect and clarify relationships among ideas Uses precise language and domain-specific vocabulary to effectively inform and explain about the topic Establishes and maintains a formal style Provides a strong concluding statement or section that follows from the information or explanation presented
writer's ability to effectively establish a claim, to support the claim with evidence from the text(s) read, and to elaborate on the claim with examples,	3	 The student's response is a complete informative/explanatory text that examines a topic and presents information clearly based on text as a stimulus. Introduces a topic Develops a topic with a few facts, definitions, concrete details, quotations, or other information and examples Generally organizes ideas, concepts, and information Uses some transitions to connect and clarify relationships among ideas, but relationships may not always be clear Uses some precise language and domain-specific vocabulary to inform and explain about the topic Maintains a formal style, for the most part Provides a concluding statement or section
illustrations, facts, and other details. The writer must integrate the information from the text(s) into	2	 The student's response is an incomplete or oversimplified informative/explanatory text that cursorily examines a topic based on text as a stimulus. Attempts to introduce a topic Attempts to develop a topic with too few details Ineffectively organizes ideas, concepts, and information Uses few transitions to connect and clarify relationships among ideas Uses limited language and vocabulary that does not inform or explain the topic Uses a formal style inconsistently or uses an informal style Provides a weak concluding statement or section
his/her own words and arrange the ideas and supporting evidence in order to create cohesion for	1	 The student's response is a weak attempt to write an informative/explanatory text that examines a topic based on text as a stimulus. May not introduce a topic or topic is unclear May not develop a topic May be too brief to group any related ideas together May not use any linking words to connect ideas Uses vague, ambiguous, or repetitive language Uses a very informal style Provides a minimal or no concluding statement or section
an argument essay.	0	The student will receive a condition code for various reasons: Blank Copied Too Limited to Score/Illegible/Incomprehensible Non-English/Foreign Language Off Topic/Off Task/Offensive

Trait 2 for Informational/Explanatory Genre

Writing Trait	Points	Criteria
	3	The student's response demonstrates full command of language usage and conventions.Effectively varies sentence patterns for meaning, reader/listener
	5	 interest, and style Shows command of language and conventions when writing Any errors in usage and conventions do not interfere with meaning*
Language Usage and Conventions		The student's response demonstrates partial command of language usage and conventions.
This trait examines the writer's ability to demonstrate control of sentence formation, usage,	2	 Varies some sentence patterns for meaning, reader/listener interest, and style Shows some knowledge of language and conventions when writing Has minor errors in usage and conventions with no significant effect on meaning*
and mechanics as embodied in the grade-level expectations of the language standards.	1	 The student's response demonstrates weak command of language usage and conventions. Has fragments, run-ons, and/or other sentence structure errors Shows little knowledge of language and conventions when writing Has frequent errors in usage and conventions that interfere with meaning*
	0	 The student will receive a condition code for various reasons: Blank Copied Too Limited to Score/Illegible/Incomprehensible Non-English/Foreign Language Off Topic/Off Task/Offensive

*Students are responsible for language conventions learned in their current grade as well as in prior grades. Refer to the language skills for each grade to determine the grade-level expectations for grammar, syntax, capitalization, punctuation, and spelling. Also refer to the "Language Progressive Skills, by Grade" chart in the Appendix for those standards that need continued attention beyond the grade in which they were introduced.

Trait 1 for Argumentative Genre

Writing Trait	Points	Criteria
Idea Development, Organization, and Coherence This trait examines the	4	 The student's response is a well-developed argument that effectively relates and supports claims with clear reasons and relevant text-based evidence. Effectively introduces claim(s) Organizes supporting reasons and evidence clearly Supports claim(s) with clear reasons and relevant evidence using specific, well-chosen facts, details, or other information from credible sources and demonstrating a good understanding of the topic or texts Uses words, phrases, or clauses effectively to connect ideas and clarify relationships among claim(s) and reasons Establishes and maintains formal style that is appropriate for the task, purpose, and audience Provides a strong concluding statement or section that logically follows from the argument presented
writer's ability to effectively establish a claim, to support the claim with evidence from the text(s) read, and to	3	 The student's response is a complete argument that relates and supports claims with some text-based evidence. Introduces claim(s) Organizes supporting reasons and evidence Supports claim(s) with reasons and evidence using some facts, details, or other information from generally credible sources Uses words, phrases, or clauses to connect ideas and link claim(s) and reasons Uses formal style fairly consistently for the task, purpose, and audience Provides a concluding statement or section that follows from the argument presented
elaborate on the claim with examples, illustrations, facts, and other details. The writer must integrate the information from the text(s) into	2	 The student's response is an incomplete or oversimplified argument that partially supports claims with loosely related text-based evidence. Attempts to introduce claim(s) Attempts to organize supporting reasons and evidence Attempts to support claim(s) with facts, reasons, and other evidence sometimes, but logic and relevancy are often unclear Uses few words, phrases, or clauses to connect ideas and link claim(s) and reasons; connections are not always clear Uses formal style inconsistently or uses informal style that does not fit task, purpose, or audience Provides a weak concluding statement or section that may not follow the argument presented
his/her own words and arrange the ideas and supporting evidence in order to create cohesion for	1	 The student's response is a weak attempt to write an argument and does not support claims with adequate text-based evidence. May not introduce claim(s) May be too brief to demonstrate an organizational structure, or no structure is evident May not support claim(s) Uses minimal or no words, phrases, or clauses to connect ideas Uses very informal style that is not appropriate for task, purpose, or audience Provides a minimal or no concluding statement or section
an argument essay.	0	 The student will receive a condition code for various reasons: Blank Copied Too Limited to Score/Illegible/Incomprehensible Non-English/Foreign Language Off Topic/Off Task/Offensive

Georgia Milestones Grade 6 ELA Study/Resource Guide for Students and Parents

Trait 2 for Argumentative Genre

Writing Trait	Points	Criteria
		The student's response demonstrates full command of language usage and conventions.
Language	3	 Effectively varies sentence patterns for meaning, reader/listener interest, and style Shows command of language and conventions when writing Any errors in usage and conventions do not interfere with meaning*
Usage and Conventions		The student's response demonstrates partial command of language usage and conventions.
This trait examines the writer's ability to demonstrate control of sentence	2	 Varies some sentence patterns for meaning, reader/listener interest, and style Shows some knowledge of language and conventions when writing Has minor errors in usage and conventions with no significant effect on meaning*
formation, usage, and		The student's response demonstrates weak command of language usage and conventions.
mechanics as embodied in the grade-level expectations of the language	1	 Has fragments, run-ons, and/or other sentence structure errors Shows little knowledge of language and conventions when writing Has frequent errors in usage and conventions that interfere with meaning*
standards.		The student will receive a condition code for various reasons:
	0	 Blank Copied Too Limited to Score/Illegible/Incomprehensible Non-English/Foreign Language Off Topic/Off Task/Offensive

*Students are responsible for language conventions learned in their current grade as well as in prior grades. Refer to the language skills for each grade to determine the grade-level expectations for grammar, syntax, capitalization, punctuation, and spelling. Also refer to the "Language Progressive Skills, by Grade" chart in the Appendix for those standards that need continued attention beyond the grade in which they were introduced.

The following skills, marked with an asterisk (*) in Language standards 1–3, are particularly likely to require continued

N |

attention in higher grades as they are applied to increasingly sophisticated writing and speaking.	anticu	spea	king.		duite	COLICIEN	D
Standard				Gra	Grade(s)		
	ε	4	വ	9	7 8		9–10 11–12
L.3.1f. Ensure subject-verb and pronoun-antecedent agreement.							
L.3.3a. Choose words and phrases for effect.							
L.4.1f. Produce complete sentences, recognizing and correcting inappropriate fragments and run-ons.							
L.4.1g. Correctly use frequently confused words (e.g., to/too/two; there/their).							
L.4.3a. Choose words and phrases to convey ideas precisely.*							
L.4.3b. Choose punctuation for effect.							
L.5.1d. Recognize and correct inappropriate shifts in verb tense.							
L.5.2a. Use punctuation to separate items in a series. ^{$†$}							
L.6.1c. Recognize and correct inappropriate shifts in pronoun number and person.							
L.G.1d. Recognize and correct vague pronouns (i.e., ones with unclear or ambiguous antecedents).							
L.G.1e. Recognize variations from standard English in their own and others' writing and speaking, and identify and use strategies to improve expression in conventional language.							
L.G.2a. Use punctuation (commas, parentheses, dashes) to set off nonrestrictive/parenthetical elements.							
L.6.3a. Vary sentence patterns for meaning, reader/listener interest, and style. *							
L.G.3b. Maintain consistency in style and tone.							
L.7.1c. Places phrases and clauses within a sentence, recognizing and correcting misplaced and dangling modifiers.							
L.7.3a. Choose language that expresses ideas precisely and concisely, recognizing and eliminating wordiness and redundancy.							
L.8.1d. Recognize and correct inappropriate shifts in verb voice and mood.							
L.9-10.1a. Use parallel structure.							
* Subsumed by L.7.3a † Subsumed by L.9-10.1a * Subsumed by L.11-12.3a							

APPENDIX: LANGUAGE PROGRESSIVE SKILLS, BY GRADE

Appendix: Language Progressive Skills, by Grade

Study/Resource Guide for Students and Parents Grade 6 English Language Arts

